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2002

INTRODUCTION
VYOLUME IV

The Public Accounts of the Province of New Brunswick are presented in five volumes.

Volume I contains the audited financial statements of the Provincial Reporting Entity as
described in note 1 to the financial statements. They include a Statement of Financial
Position, a Statement of Revenue and Expenditure, a Statement of Cash Flow and a
Statement of Net Debt. This volume also contains the Auditor’s Report, Statement of
Responsibility and a variance analysis.

Volume II contains unaudited supplementary information to the Financial Statements
presented in Volume I It presents summary statements for revenue and expenditure as
well as five-year comparative statements. This volume also contains detailed information
on Supplementary Appropriations, Funded Debt, statements of the General Sinking Fund,

Securities Held, and revenue and expenditire by government department (this includes -

salary, travel, vendor, grant and contribution, and loan disbursement listings).

Volume I contains the: financial statements of those corporations, boards and

commissions which are accountable for the administration of their financial affairs and
resources to the Government or the Legislature of the Province. The Government or
Legislature also has the power to control these organizations either through ownership or
through legislative provisions.

This volume contains the financial statements of various trust funds which the
Province administers as Trustee.

Volume V contains salary listings of certain government organizations, including regional
hospital corporations, New Brunswick Power Corporation, New Brunswick Liquor
Corporation and the Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation Commission of New
Brunswick. The salary listings are for employees who received earnings during the year
ended 31 December 2001 in excess of $40,000.
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General vérificateur général

Notwen, :-@i Brunswick

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honourable Peter Mesheau
Minister of Finance
Province of New Brunswick

| have audited the statement of net assets available for benefits of the Public Service Superannuation Plan as
at 31 March 2002 and the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan's trustee. My responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that | plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingthe amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by the Plan's trustee, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of tl:\e
Plan as at 31 March 2002 and the results of its activities for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

A

Daryl C. Wilson, FCA
. Auditor General

Fredericton, N. B.
31 October 2002
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
31 MARCH 2002

: 2002 2001
ASSETS
Investments (note 3) $3,008,263,135 $2,960,067,758
Receivables
Employee contributions 7,163,621 7,670,597
Employer contributions 16,769,938 1,680,580
23,923,559 9,351,177
Total assets ' 3,032,186,694 2,969,418,935
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 959,891 772,262
Total liabilities 959,891 772,262
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS $3,031,226,803 $2,968,646,673

The Accompanying oTs are an integral part of these financial statements.

A7

. Dep}ity Ministér of Finance
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002

2002 2001
INCREASE IN ASSETS
Investment income (note 4) $ 98,987,129 $ -
Securities lending 97,757 96,114
Pension contributions
" Employee 47,300,229 46,417,464
Employer (note 5) 54,652,873 39,074,427
Transfers under reciprocal agreements 2,978,918 1,337,311
Total increase in assets _ 204,016,906 86,925,316
DECREASE IN ASSETS
Investment loss (note 4) - 176,904,235
Pensions 128,800,781 117,156,705
Refunds - 3,914,143 5,149,925
Transfers under reciprocal agreements : 2,073,828 3,134,019
Administrative expenses - 2,074,278 v 2,039,820
Investment management fees 3,704,308 2,926,139
Harmonized Sales Tax (note 6) 869,438 -
Total decrease in assets 141,436,776 307,310,843
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS 62,580,130 (220,385,527)
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,968,646,673 3,189,032,200
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
AT END OF YEAR $3,031,226,803 $2,968,646,673

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

1. Description of Plan

The following description of the Public Service Superannuation Plan is a summary only. For more information,
reference should be made to the Public Service Superannuation Act.

{(a) General

The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain government employees and
employees of certain boards, commissions, corporations and educational institutions as defined by the Act
and its regulations. The Office of Human Resources administers the Plan.

{b) Funding Policy

Under the Pian, the Plan members and the Pian sponsor make contributions. The determination of the value
of benefits owed by the Plan is made on the basis of a triennial actuarial valuation (see note 7).

{c) Service Pensions

For pensionable service after 31 August 1966, the basic pension benefit is 1.3% of the average annual salary
during the highest paid continuous 5 year period up to the year's maximum pensionable earnings (YMPE) and
2% of the average annual salary above the YMPE multiplied by the number of years of pensionable service.
Pension benefits are integrated in accordance with the average YMPE when the member attains age 65
regardless of when pension benefits commenced being paid. For pensionable service before 1 September
1966, the pension benefit is 2% of the average annual salary multiplied by the number of years of pensionable
service. Pension benefits are indexed annually to a maximum of 5%.

Normal retirement age is 65. Unreduced pension benefits are available upon reaching age 60 vyith 5 years of
pensionable service. Reduced benefits are available at age 55 with 5 years of pensionable service. The early
reduction factor of 3% per year pro-rated is applied if retirement occurs at age 55 and before age 60.

{d) Death Benefits

On the death of a member prior to completing 5 years of pensionable service, the benefit payable is a refund
of the member’s contributions with interest. An immediate pension equal to 50% of the member's pension,
had they attained age 65, is payable to the surviving spouse or dependent children in the event of death ofa
member who has completed at least 5 years of pensionable service.

{e) Benefits on Termination

In the event of termination of employment for reasons other than retirement, death or disability_a, member may
receive either a refund of his/her own contributions to the Plan with interest or a deferred annuity commencing
when the member attains retirement age. To be eligible for a deferred annuity the member must have 5 or
more years of pensionable service to his credit at his date of termination of employment.

) Income Taxes

The Pian is a Registered Pension Plan as defined in the Income Tax Act and is not subject to income taxes.
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and present the aggregate financial
position of the Plan as a financial reporting entity independent of the plan sponsors and plan members. These
statements are prepared to assist plan members and others in reviewing the activities of the Plan for the fiscal
period, but they do not portray the funding requirements of the Plan or the benefit security of individual plan
members.

(b) Investments

On 1 April 1998, the assets of the Public Service Superannuation Fund were transferred to unit trust funds
established by the New Brunswick Investment Management Corporation (NBIMC).

Al investments of the Plan are represented by holdings of units of the unit trust funds. The total value is
based on the calculated net asset value multiplied by the number of units held.

Investments are valued at their fair value as of the date of the financial statements. For securities listed on an
exchange, fair value is the closing price listed on the exchange. If no closing price is available, the average of
the latest bid and ask prices is used. Securities not listed on an exchange are valued based on a quotation
service from a recognized dealer. Investments in money market instruments are reported at cost, which
approximates market value. Investments denominated in a foreign cumency are translated into their
Canadian dollar equivalents at the year-end exchange rate.

(c) Revenue Recognition

All investment transactions are recognized as of their trade date. Interest income and dividend income have
been accrued at year-end. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate prevailing at the time of the transaction.

Derivative products such as foreign exchange contracts, futures and swaps are recorded at the value the qnit
trust funds would have paid or received had the contract been terminated at the year-end date. “The resulting
gain or loss is included in investment income.

Both realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in investment income.

3. Investments

{(a) Trustee

The assets of the Public Service Superannuation Plan are held in trust by NBIMC. NBIMC was appointed as
trustee on 11 March 1996 by an Act of the New Brunswick Legislature which bears its name (NBIMC Act) and
assumed responsibility for the management of the Plan’s assets effective 1 April 1996.
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

3 Investments (continued)

(b) Investments

There are currently 13 unit trust funds, each with a specific investment mandate. The unit trusi funds are
established pursuant to a Unit Trust Declaration made by the NBIMC on 1 April 1998. Each fund is an open-
end, unincorporated trust, governed by the faws of the Province of New Brunswick.

Following is a description of each unit trust fund in existence during the year ended March 31, 2002:

Nominal Bond:

Invests primarily in investment grade bonds (a minimum of triple-B rated by a major rating agency) of G-7
countries and Canadian provinces paying a nominal rate of interest. The retumn objective is to add 20 basis
points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital All Government Index, over a four-year moving average.

New Brunswick Fixed Income Opportunity:

Invests primarily in fixed income issues to finance economic activity in New Brunswick. The retum objective; is
to add 20 basis points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital All Government Index, over a four-year moving
average.

Inflation Linked Securities:

Invests primarily in fixed income instruments of G-7 countries that are adjusted for inflation. The return
objective is to add 10 basis points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital Real Return Bond Index, over a four-
year moving average.

Money Market:

Invests primarily in fixed income securities having a maturity of less than one year. The return objective is to
add 20 basis points to its benchmark, which is calculated as 80% of the Scotia Capital 91-Day Treasury Bill
Index and 20% of the Call Loan Rate.

Allocation Equity International:

This fund is used to implement asset allocation decisions and diversify equity investments by participating in
the equity markets of the U.S., Japan, the UK., Germany, France and ltaly. Its primary investments are
derivative products such as futures options and swaps. Leverage is avoided by ensuring each derivative
product is supported by an appropriate value of short-term investments.

Allocation Equity Domestic:

This fund is used to implement asset allocation decisions by investing in the Canadian equity market. Its

primary investments are derivative products such as futures, options and swaps. Leverage is avoided by
ensuring each derivative product is supported by an appropriate value of short-term investments.




PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME 4 . 2002

TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

3. Investments (continued)

New Brunswick and Atlantic Canada Equity Opportunity:

This fund invests in public and private equities or instruments convertible into equities of New Brunswick and
Aflantic Canada companies. The return objective is to add 80 basis points to its benchmark, the TSE 300,
over a four-year moving average.

Canadian Equity:

Investments are selected primarily from the top 120 companies on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The retum
objective is to add 80 basis points to its benchmark, the TSE 300, over a four-year moving average.

TSE Small-Cap:

Managed by an external manager, this fund invests primarily in the bottom 180 companies of the TSE 300
Index. The retumn objective is to exceed the performance of its benchmark, the S&P/TSE Small-Cap Index,
by 100 basis points.

Private Equity:

This fund, which was launched on February 1, 2001, is managed by external managers that invest primarily in
non-publicly traded securities of U.S. and European companies. The return objective is to exceed the
performance of its benchmark, a blend of the S&P 500, FTSE-100, DAX, CAC-40 and MIB-30 total return
indices, by 300 basis points over a four-year moving average.

U.S. Real Estate:

This fund, which was launched on February 1, 2001, is managed by an external mgnager.that invests
primarily in publicly traded securities of U.S. Real Estate Investment Trusts. The return objective is to add 150
basis points to the NAREIT®Equity Index.

Public Equity:

This fund, which was launched on August 15, 2001, is managed by external managers. Two managers are
currently in place, with each having 50% allocation of total assets. One manager invests primarily in U.S..
publiclytraded companies and has a retum objective of 200 basis points above the S&P 500 Total Return
index. The other manager invests primarily in European publicly-traded companies and has a retum objective
of 200 basis points above its benchmark, an equal blend of the total return indices for the FTSE-100, DAX,
CAC-40 and MIB-30 indices.

Student Investment:

This fund is managed by students at the University of New Brunswick who are registered in the Student
Investment Fund Program. lts initial base was $1 million and is to be invested using the same philosophy as
that used by NBIMC. The overall benchmark for this fund is composed of 50% S&P/TSE €0, 45% Scotia
Capital All Government Index and 5% Scotia Capital 91-Day Treasury Bill Index. The activities of this fund are
closely monitored by NBIMC staff who execute and process all transactions on behalf of the students.
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

3. Investments (continued)

The following table reflects the holdings of the Public Service Superannuation Plan in the unit trust funds for

which NBIMC is trustee.

Unit 2002 2001
Units Value Amount Amount
Fixed Income;
Nominal Bond 768641 $ 1,162 $ 893,811,850 $ 871,988,417
New Brunswick _
Fixed Income Opportunity 17,302 1,242 21,479,752 22,938,146
915,291,602 894,926,563
Inflation Linked Securities 274,385 1,275 349,727,249 321,237,019
Money Market 126,190 1,165 147,040,074 93,693,743
1,412,058,925  1,309,857,325
Equities:
Allocation Equity International 391,217 1,094 427,924,230 559,657,346
Allocation Equity Domestic 31,485 1,391 43,783,550 126,828,169
New Brunswick and Atlantic
Canada Equity Opportunity 23,734 1,281 30,411,032 22,001,937
Canadian Equity 704,797 1,098 773,645,739 722,183,163
TSE Smali-Cap . 71,725 1,195 85,709,905 68,199,147
Private Equity 108,941 830 90,377,542 85,983,190
U.S. Real Estate 52,842 1,190 62,875,438 64,857,270
Public Equity 84,232 960 80,850,148 -
1,695,577,584  1,649,610,222
Balanced:
Student Investment 485 1,291 626,626 600,211

$3,008,263,135 $2,960,067,758

{c) Risk Management

Rates of return vary based on the degree of uncertainty. The fundamental sources of uncertainty to which
investments are exposed are credit risk and price risk. Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Price risk is
comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk. Currency risk is the risk that the value of an
investment will fluctuate due to future changes in foreign exchange rates. Interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of an investment will fluctuate due to future changes in market interest rates. Market risk is the risk that'
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of future changes in market prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities

traded in the market.
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

3. Investments {continued)

Risk is reduced through asset class diversification, diversification within each asset class, quality constraints -
on fixed income instruments and restrictions by limiting most investments to G-7 countries. Borrowing or
leveraging is not allowed. Controls are in place respecting the use of derivatives. Forward foreign exchange
contracts are used to manage currency exposure in connection with securities purchased in foreign currency.

4, Investment Income

The following table reflects the investment income of the Public Service Superannuation Fund in each of the
unit trust funds for which NBIMC is trustee for the year ended 31 March 2002.

Current Period

interest Dividends Increase/ Total
‘ {Decrease) in
Market Value
Fixed Income:
Nominal Bond $ 47,549,255 $ - $ (5261,813) $ 42,287,442
New Brunswick
Fixed Income Opportunity 1,512,957 - (420,029) 1,092,928
49,062,212 - (5,681,842) 43,380,370
inflation Linked Securities 11,830,417 - (2,794,979) 9,035,438
Money Market 5,696,365 - (944,882) 4,751,483
- 66,588,994 - (9,421,703) 57,167,291
Equities:
Allocation Equity international 20,311,555 - (47,474,610) (27,163,055)
Allocation Equity Domestic 3,568,973 - 6,303,285 . 9,872,258
New Brunswick and Atlantic
Canada Equity Opportunity 1,011,474 933,434 (600,204) 1,344,704
Canadian Equity 2,533,309 410,361 32,541,136 35,484,806
TSE Small-Cap 23,108 1,410,293 10,921,093 12,354,494
Private Equity 3,467,450 - (4,514,062) (1,046,612)
U.S. Real Estate 35,290 4,105,491 8,677,401 12,818,182
Public Equity 33,483 354,357 (2,259,184) (1,871,344)
30,984,642 7,213,936 3,594,855 41,793,433
Balanced: .
Student Investment 18,374 5,536 2,495 26,405
Total - 2002 $ 97,592,010 $ 7,219,472 $ (5,824,353) $ 98,987,129
Total - 2001 $ 117,551,169 § 4,695,011 $ (299,150,415) $ (176,904,235)
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002 ‘

5. Pension Contributions from Employers

Pension contributions from employers are as follows:

2002 2001

Province of New Brunswick $ 31,441,689 $ 21,676,222
New Brunswick Power Corporation 10,578,566 7,158,603

- University of New Brunswick , 2,466,489 1,898,763
Workplace Health, Safety and Compensation Commission 1,304,687 846,375
New Brunswick Liquor Corporation ' 928,263 613,836
Other 7,933,179 _ 6,880,628
$ 54,652,873 $ 39,074,427

6. Harmonized Sales Tax

After extensive discussions between NBIMC and the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency, it was
determined that NBIMC was obligated to collect and remit Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) on the fees it
charges to the pension funds under its trusteeship. As a result, NBIMC voluntarily collected and remitted HST
to Canada Customs and Revenue Agency for the years 1996 to 2001 during 2002. This amount is reported
as a separate item on the statement of changes in net assets. HST related to the 2001-2002 fiscal year has
been included under the caption “Investment management fees” on the statement of changes in net assets.

7. Funding Policy

Employees are required to contribute 5.8% of their earings, up to the year’s maximum pensionable eamings
(YMPE) under the Canada Pension Plan Act, plus 7.5% on eamings above the YMPE. The employer is
required to contribute an amount necessary in the opinion of an actuary, which when combined with employee
confributions will fund current service costs. '

The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was prepared by Morneau Sobeco, a firm of
consulting actuaries, as of 1 April 2000. This valuation disclosed a surplus of $330,225,000.

8. Obligation for Pension Benefits

The present value of accrued benefits was determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on
service and actuarial assumptions which reflect management's best estimate for the future. An actuarial
valuation was made as of 1 April 2002 by Morneau Sobeco. ‘
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TRUST FUND NO. 4

PUBLIC SERVICE SUPERANNUATION PLAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

8. Obligation for Pension Benéfits (continued)

Significant long-term assumptidns and the range of short-term assumptions used in the valuation are:

Long-term Short-term
Assumptions Assumptions
Rate of return on assets 7.9% 7.9%
Annual wage and salary increase 4.0% plus 2.0% to 4.0%

promotional increase
between 0.2% and 1.0% .
Inflation 3.5% 3.5%
Rate of pension escalation after retirement :
(Actives and pensioners who retired on or

after May 1, 1995) 3.3% 1.7% t0 3.3%
(Pensioners who retired prior to May 1, 1995
and for UNB facuity) 3.4% 1.7% 10 3.4%

The actuarial present value of benefits as at 31 March and the principal components of changes in actuarial
present values during the year were as follows:

(in millions)
2002 2001
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits
at beginning of year 3 2,830.89 $ 2,683.60
Interest accrued on benefits 22216 21 0.90
Benefits accrued 97.37 97.44
Benefits paid (134.79) (125.44)
Change in assumptions ' : - -
Experience loss (gain) 50.50 (35.61)
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits at end of year  $ 3,066.13 $ 2,830.89
Net assets available for benefits $ 3,031.20 $ 2,968.65
9. Investments in Plan Sponsor

As at 31 March 2002, the Public Service Superannuation Plan held:

e 51% of the total nominal bond unit trust fund of $1,756,898,534. Of this total, $1.1.,481,955 consisted
of Province of New Brunswick and Province of New Brunswick guaranteed securities.

e 52% of the total $283,523,479 in the Money Market Fund. Of this total, $26,939,783 consisted of
short term Province of New Brunswick guaranteed securities.

e 48% of the total $1,313,557 in the Student Investment Fund. Of this total, $63,178 consisted of
Province of New Brunswick securities.
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General vérificateur général

Novver, 1-@-: Brunswick

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honourable Peter Mesheau
Minister of Finance
Province of New Brunswick

| have audited the statement of net assets available for benefits of the Teachers' Pension Plan as at
31 March 2002 and the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan's trustee. My responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

| conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that | plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by the Plan's trustee, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of tpe
Plan as at 31 March 2002 and the results of its activities for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Daryl C. Wilson, FCA
Auditor General

Fredericton,N. B.
31 October 2002
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TRUST FUND NO. 7
TEACHERS’ PENSION PLAN

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
31 MARCH 2002 '

2002 2001
ASSETS
Investments (note 3) $2,791,760,234 $2,813,373,292
Receivables
Employee contributions 4,790,518 2,248,654
Employer contributions 781,463 5.427
5,671,981 2,254,081
Total assets 2,797,332,215 2,815,627,373
LIABILITIES ,
Accounts payable 984,797 671,960
Deferred employer contributions - 23,596,813
Total liabilities . 984,797 24,268,773
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS $2,796,347 418

$2,791,358,600

Thg accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

- A “qv /
Jolln Mallory
Deputy Minjstef of Finance
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TRUST FUND NO. 7
TEACHERS’ PENSION PLAN

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002

2002 2001
INCREASE IN ASSETS '
Investment income (note 4) $ 94,796,995 $ -
Securities lending 92,264 95,013
Pension contributions
Employee 35,771,999 32,256,637
Employer 29,913,186 28,324,079
Transfers under reciprocal agreements : 932,647 563,140
Total increase in assets 161,507,091 61,238,869
DECREASE IN ASSETS
Investment loss (note 4) - 140,110,855
Pensions 148,931,466 134,682,499
Refunds - 1,926,837 1,544,434
Transfers under reciprocal agreements 168,069 524,242
. Administrative expenses 1,176,649 1,127,227
Investment management fees 3,481,538 2,777,014
Harmonized Sales Tax (note 5) , 833,714 -
Total decrease in assets 156,518,273 280,766,271
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS 4,988,818 (219,527,402)
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,791,358,600 3,010,886,002
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS '
AT END OF YEAR $2,796,347,418 $2,791,358,600

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 7

TEACHERS’ PENSION PLAN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2002

-1 Description of Plan

The following description of the Teachers’ Pension Plan is a summary only.- For more information, reference
should be made to the Teachers’ Pension Act.

(a) General

_The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering teachers as defined by the Act and its
regulations. The Office of Human Resources admmlsters the Plan. . :

{b) Funding Policy

Under the Plan, the Plan members and the Plan sponsor make contributions. The determination of the value
of benefits owed by the Plan is made on the basis of a triennial actuarial valuation (see note 6).

(c) Service Pensions

For pensionable service after 31 August 1966, the basic pension benefit is 1.3% of the average annual salary
during the highest paid continuous 5 year period up to the year’s maximum pensionable earings (YMPE) and
2% of the average annual salary above the YMPE multiplied by the number of years of pensionable service.
Pension benefits are integrated in accordance with the average YMPE when the member attains age 65
regardless of when pension benefits commenced bemg pald Pension benefits are indexed annually to a
maximum of 4.75%. :

_For pensionable service before 1 September 1966, the pension benefit is 2.14% o_f_.the"av_erage annugl salary
during the highest paid continuous 5 year period multiplied by the number of years of pensionable service.

Employees are eligible for pension benefits when the sum of their age and completed years of pensionable
service is 87 or more, they have a minimum of 35 years of pensronable service, or at age 65 with 5 years of
pensionable service, or at age 60 with 20 years of pensionable service. Reduced benefits are available when
the age and service total is 80, or at age 60 with 5 years of service.

{d) Disability Pensions

A member who has at least 5 years of pensionable service at the date of becoming disabled is entitled to an
immediate pension on retirement because of disability. :

(e) Death Benefits

On the death of an active member prior to completing 5 years of pensionable service, the benefit payable is a
refund of the member’s contributions with interest. In the event of death of an active member who has
completed at least 5 years of pensionable service, the normal form of pension, equal to 50% of what the
member would have received had they attained age 65, is payable to the surviving spouse. If there is no
spouse but there is a child, a pension is paid in respect of the child until age 19. If the child is in full-time
attendance at an educational institution, a pension is paid in respect of the child until age 25 or when the child
ceases to be in full-time attendance at the educational institution, whichever occurs first.
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1. Description of Plan (continued)

If a member dies after retirement, and the member had a surviving spouse at the time of retirement and
elected a higher spousal benefit, the amount payable is in accordance with the option chosen at retirement
(e.g. 60%, 66 2/3%, 75% or 100%). These options are only available to the spouse who is a spouse at the
date the annual pension commences to be paid at the time of the members’ retirement. If there is no
spouse but there is a child, the normal form of survivor pension (50% of benefit payable at members age
65) is paid in respect of the child until age 19. If the child is in full-time attendance at an educational
institution, a pension is paid in respect of the child until-age 25 or when the child ceases to be in full-time
attendance at the educational institution, whichever occurs first.

) Benefits on Termination

In the event of termination of employment for reasons other than retirement, death or disability, a ‘me(nbe_r
may receive either a refund of his/her own contributions to the Plan with interest or a deferred pension if
vested. .

{(g) - Income Taxes

The Plan is a Registered Pension Pfan as defined in the Income Tax Act and is not subject to income taxes.

2. Sdmmary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and present the aggregate financial
position of the Plan as a financial reporting entity independent of the plan sponsors and plan members. These
statements are prepared fo assist plan members and others in reviewing the activities of the Plan for the fiscal
period, but they do not portray the funding requirements of the Plan or the benefit security of individual plan
members. '

(b) Investments

On 1 April 1998, the assets of the Teachers' Pension Fund were transferred to unit trust funds established by
the New Brunswick Investment Management Corporation (NBIMC).

All investments of the Plan are represented by holdings of units of the unit trust funds. The total value is
based on the calculated net asset value multiplied by the number of units held.

Investments are valued at their fair value as of the date of the financial statements. For securities listed on an
exchange, fair value is the closing price listed on the exchange. If no closing price is available, the average of
the latest bid and ask prices is used. Securities not listed on an exchange are valued based on a quotation
service from a recognized dealer. Investments in money market instriments are repotted at cost, which
approximates market value. Investments denominated in a foreign currency are translated into their
Canadian dollar equivalents at the year-end exchange rate.

D
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TEACHERS’ PENSION PLAN :
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2002

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Revenue Recognition

All investment transactions are recognized as of their trade date. Interest income and dividend income have
been accrued at year-end. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate prevailing at the time of the transaction.

Derivative products such as forelgn exchange contracts, futures and swaps are recorded at the value the unit
trust funds would have paid or received had the contract been terminated at the year-end date. The resulting
gain or loss is included in investment income.

Both realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in investment income.

3. Investments

(a) Trustee

The assets of the Teachers’ Pension Plan are held in trust by NBIMC. NBIMC was appointed as trustee on
11 March 1996 by an Act of the New Brunswick Legislature which bears its name (NBIMC Act) and assumed
responsibility for the management of the Plan’s assets effective 1 April 1996.

(b) Investments

There are currently 13 unit trust funds, each with a specific investment mandate. The unit trust funds are
established pursuant to a Unit Trust Declaration made by the NBIMC on 1 April 1998. Each fund is an open-
end, unincorporated trust, governed by the laws of the Province of New Brunswick.

Following is a description of each unit trust fund in existence during the year ended March 31, 2002:

Nominal Bond:

Invests pnmanly in investment grade bonds (a minimum of triple-B rated by a major rating agency) of G-7
countries and Canadian provinces paying a nominal rate of interest. The return objective is to add 20 basis
points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital All Government Index, over a four-year moving average.

New Brunswick Fixed Income Opportunity:

Invests primarily in fixed income issues to finance economic activity in New Brunswick. The return objective is
to add 20 basis points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital All Government Index, over a four-year movmg
average.

Inflation Linked Securities:

invests pnmaﬂy in fixed income instruments of G-7 countries that are adjusted for inflation. The retum

objective is to add 10 basis pomts to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital Real Return Bond Index, over a four-
year moving average.
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3. Investments (continued)

Money Market:

~Invests primarily in fixed income securities having a maturity of less than one year. The retum objective is to

add 20 basis points to its benchmark, which is calculated as 80% of the Scotia Capital 91-Day Treasury Bill
index and 20% of the Call Loan Rate. '

Allocation Equity International:

This fund is used to implement asset allocation decisions and diversify equity investments by participating in
the equity markets of the U.S., Japan, the U.K,, Germany, France and ltaly. Its primary investments are
derivative products such as futures, options and swaps. Leverage is avoided by ensuring each derivative
product is supported by an appropriate value of short-term investments. ‘

Allocation Equity Domestic:
This fund is used to implement asset allocation decisions by investing in the Canadian equity market. Its

primary investments are derivative products such as futures, options and swaps. Leverage is avoided by
ensuring each derivative product is supported by an appropriate value of short-term investments.

~ New Brunswick and Atlantic Canada Equity Opportunity:

This fund invests in public and private equities or instruments convertible into equities of New Brunswick and
Atlantic Canada companies. The return objective is to add 80 basis points to its benchmark, the TSE 300,
over a four-year moving average.

Canadian Equity:

Investments are selected primarily from the top 120 companies on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The return
objective is to add 80 basis points to its benchmark, the TSE 300, over a four-year moving average.

TSE Small-Cap:

Mah_aged by an external manager, this fund invests primarily in the bottom 180 companies of the TSE 300
index. The return objective is to exceed the performance of its benchmark, the S&P/TSE Small-Cap Index,
by 100 basis points.

Private Equity:

This fund, which was faunched on February 1, 2001, is managed by external managers that invest primarily in
non-publicly traded securities of U.S. and European companies. The return objective is to exceed the
performance of its benchmark, a blend of the S&P 500, FTSE-100, DAX, CAC-40 and MIB-30 total return
indices, by 300 basis points over a four-year moving average.
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3. Investments (continued)

U.S. Real Estate:

This fund, which was launched on February 1, 2001, is managed by an external mgna‘ger.that invests
primarily in publicly traded securities of U.S. Real Estate Investment Trusts. The retum objective is to add 150
basis points to the NAREIT®Equity index.

Public Equity:

This fund, which was launched on August 15, 2001, is managed by external managers. Two managers are

currently in place, with each having 50% allocation of total assets.. One manager invests primarily in U.S.

publicly-traded companies and has a return objective of 200 basis points above the S&P 500 Total Betgm -
index. The other manager invests primarily in European publicly-traded companies and has a retum objective

of 200 basis points above its benchmark, an equal blend .of the total retum indices for the FTSE-100, DAX,

CAC-40 and MIB-30 indices.

Student Investment:

This fund is managed by students at the University of New Brunswick who are registered in the Student
Investment Fund Program. Its initial base was $1 million and is to be invested using the same philosophy as
that used by NBIMC. The overall benchmark for this fund is composed of 50% S&P/TSE 60, 45% Scotia
Capital All Government Index and 5% Scotia Capital 91-Day Treasury Bill Index. The activities of this fund are
closely monitored by NBIMC staff who execute and process all transactions on behalf of the students.
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3. Investments (continued)

The following table reflects the holdings of the Teachers’ Pension Plan in the unit trust funds for which NBIMC
is trustee.

Unit . 2002 2001
Units Value Amount Amount
Fixed Income:
Nominal Bond 737,562 $1,162 $ 857,670,932 $ 857,085,486
New Brunswick :
Fixed Income Opportunity 16,064 1,242 19,943,594 21,817,289
877,614,626 878,902,775
Inflation Linked Securities 276,629 1,275 352,586,690 333,405,419
Money Market 116,201 1,165 135,400,425 87,995,272
1,365,601,641  1,300,303,466
Equities:
Allocation Equity International 337,744 1,094 369,433,843 504,192,337
Altocation Equity Domestic 29,238 1,391 40,657,806 120,589,063
New Brunswick and Atlantic
Canada Equity Opportunity 22,037 1,281 28,236,047 20,926,775
Canadian Equity 631,554 1,098 693,248,353 653,235,225
TSE Small-Cap 64,057 1,195 76,546,678 70,006,348
Private Equity 101,141 830 83,906,782 81,778,525
U.S. Real Estate 49,063 1,190 58,378,804 61,688,063
Public Equity 78,208 960 75,068,026 -
1,425,476,339  1,512,416,336
Balanced: ‘
Student Investment 528 1,291 682,254 653,490

$2,791,760,234 $2,813,373,292

{c) Risk Management

Rates of return vary based on the degree of uncertainty. The fundamental sources of uncertainty to whigh
investments are exposed are credit risk and price risk. Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Price risk is
comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk. Currency risk is the risk that the value of an
investment will fluctuate due to future changes in foreign exchange rates. Interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of an investment will fluctuate due to future changes in market interest rates. Market risk is the risk that
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of future changes in market prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities
traded in the market. Risk is reduced through asset class diversification, diversification within each asset
class, quality constraints on fixed income instruments and restrictions by limiting most investments to G-7
countries.
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3. Investments (continued)

Borrowing or leveraging is not allowed. Controls are in place respecting the use of derivatives. Fo:waujd
foreign exchange contracts are used to manage currency exposure in connection with securities purchased in
foreign currency. -

4, Investment Income

The following table reflects the investment income of the Teachers’ Pension Plan in each of the unit trust
funds for which NBIMC is trustee for the year ended 31 March 2002.

Current Period
Increase/
Interest Dividends (Decrease) in Total
Market Value
Fixed Income: ‘ :
Nominal Bond $ 45626686 $ - $ (4,333,827) $§ 41,292,859
New Brunswick '
Fixed Income Opportunity 1,404,761 - (371,205) 1,033,556
47,031,447 - (4,705,032) 42,326,415
Inflation Linked Securities 11,927,245 - - (2,698,773) 9,228,472
Money Market 5,329,019 - . (870,074) 4,458,945
: 64,287,711 - (8,273,879) 56,013,832
Equities; v .
Allocation Equity International 17,535,420 - (42,088,978) (24,553,558)
Allocation Equity Domestic 3,314,214 - 5,981,461 9,295,675
New Brunswick and Atlantic :

Canada Equity Opportunity 939,140 866,681 (555,099) 1,250,722
Canadian Equity 2,270,055 367,718 29,108,585 31,746,358
TSE Small-Cap 20,637 1,259,514 10,475,924 11,756,075
Private Equity 3,219,223 - (4.217,111) {(997,888)
U.S. Real Estate 32,766 3,811,896 8,186,527 12,031,189
Public Equity 31,089 329,016 (2,134,269) (1,774,164)

: 27,362,544 6,634,825 4,757,040 38,754,409
Balanced: :
Student Investment 20,004 6,027 . 2,723 28,754
Total - 2002 $ 91670259 $ 6,640,852 $ (3,514,116) $ 94,796,995
Total - 2001 $ 113281500 $ 4,383,839 $ (257,776,194) $ (140,110,855)
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5. Harmonized Sales Tax

After extensive discussions between NBIMC and the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency, it was
determined that NBIMC was obligated to collect and remit Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) on the fees it
charges to the pension funds under its trusteeship. As a result, NBIMC voluntarily collected and remitted HST
to Canada Customs and Revenue Agency for the years 1996 to 2001 during 2002. This amount is reported
as a separate item on the statement of changes in net assets. HST related to the 2001-2002 fiscal year has
been included under the caption “Investment management fees” on the statement of changes in net assets.

6. Funding Policy

Employees are required to contribute 7.3% of their earnings to YMPE plus 9% of earnings above the YMPE.
The employer makes contributions equal to the employee contributions.

The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was prepared by Momeau Sobeco, a firm of
consulting actuaries, as of 1 April 2000. This valuation disclosed a surplus of $221,127,000.

7. Obligation for Pension Benefits

The present value of accrued benefits was determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on
service and actuarial assumptions which reflect management's best estimate for the future. An actuarial
valuation was made as of 1 Aprit 2002 by Morneau Sobeco.

Significant long-term assumptions and the range of short-term assumptions used in the valuation are:

Long-term Short-term
Assumptions Assumptions
Rate of return on assets 7.9% 7.9%
Annual wage and salary increase 4.0% plus 2.0% to 4.0%

promotional increase
between 0.25% and 1.5%
Infiation 3.5% 3.5%
Rate of pension escalation after retirement
(Actives and pensioners who retired on or
after May 1, 1995) 3.2% 1.7%to 3.2%
(Pensioners who retired prior to May 1, 1995) 3.4% 1.7% 10 3.4%

The actuarial present value of benefits as at 31 March and the principal components of changes in actuarial
present values during the year were as follows:
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7. Obligation for Pension Benefits (continued)
(in millions)
2002 2001

Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits _

at beginning of year : $ 275963 $ 263178
Interest accrued on benefits 214.81 204.90
Benefits accrued » 69.95 60.62
Benefits paid (151.03) (136.75)
Experience loss (gain) 38.82 (0.92)
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits atend of year $  2,932.18 $ 2,759.63
Net assets available for benefits $  2796.35 $ 2,791.36

8. Investments in Plan Sponsor

As at 31 March 2002, the Teachers’ Plan held:

e 49% of the total Nominal Bond unit trust fund of $1,756,898,534. Of this total, $11,481,955 consisted
of Province of New Brunswick and Province of New Brunswick guaranteed securities.

e 48% of the total $283,523,479 in the Money Market unit trust fund. Of this total, $26,939,783
consisted of short term Province of New Brunswick guaranteed securities.

e 52% of the total $1,313,557 in the Student Investment Fund. Of this total, $63,178 consisted of
Province of New Brunswick securities.
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TRUST FUND NO_. 8
GROUP INSURANCE TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(unaudited) =
as at 31 March 2002
ASSETS . _ 2002 2001
Current: . o :
CASH ettt et eaens s s e eireereareseeeneanrans . § 31,561 § 109,720
Short term investments (par value $900, 000) ................................. et 900,000 700,000
Receivable from Assumption Mutual Llfc : - : -
Insurance CoOmMpany ...........coovvumeelonvernnrnsenns eetretresasaeesneaeestasnresesnrraneens 345,561 1,748,718 .
" Accrued interest receivable ..........o.ooeeereicniniin e eeeareens y 2,754 4,989
' o | e 1,279,876 2,563,427
Investments (market value $164,000) (Note 3) e . 150,000 221,000
Deferred Charges: o " , ' V
Unamoruzed premiums less dlscounts irteerseanreeeeiaeenren e SUUTRRU eveeenes ' (161). 565
$ 1429715 $ 2,784,992
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
FUNG EQUILY ... e e rsesense s 1,429,715 2,784,992
' ' - $ 1429715 $ 2784992
The accompanying notes are an integral_ part of these Financial Statements.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited) 7
for the year ended 31 March 2002
2002 2001
Fund equity at beginning of YEar .........ccooeviivniniviesivnsermreiiacreeeeniesees $ 2784992 § 1373912
Add: . :
Bank interest .......cooveevieeeiiiieeeieee e evereeeneraane e rreranaiaans eereens 1,386 3,338
Interest earned ON INVESLINEIIS .....eecvevvreecrrreaivieearssneesioesvmrereaseessneeesseesannee 47,220 64,768
Amortization of premiums less discounts ................... ereeeenreese et eae e iae (726) (3,899)
Group Insurance refund (deficiency) et s .(1,403,157) 1,346,873 . -
T (1,355,277) 1,411,080
Fund equity at end of year .......... feree et et r ARt e bbbt st et en e $ 1,429,715 $ 2784992

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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1. General

The Group Insurance Trust Fund is held in trust by the Minister of Finance. The Fund is used as a rate stabilization fund by
charging or crediting annual plan deficits or surpluses to the Fund. The Fund is also used for special purpose expenditures.
2.  Summary of Signiﬁcant Accounting Policies
a)  Basis of Accounting

Bank interest and interest eamed on investments are reported on the statement of activity on the accrual basis.
b) Investments

Investments in bonds and debentures are reported on the statement of financial position at par value. Unamortized discounts
are reported separately on the statement as deferred credits. Short term deposits are recorded on the statement of financial position at
cost.
¢)  Discounts

Discounts are deferred and amortized to income oh a constant yield basis over the remaining life of the related security.

3. Investments
Value of the investments at 31 March 2002 is as follows:

Par Net Book Market
Value Value Value

Bonids and debentures issued or guaranteed by Canada ..........coveeeee $150,000 $149,839 $164,000
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TRUST FUND NO. 9
MENTAL HEALTH TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(unaudited)
as at 31 March 2002
ASSETS 2002 2001
Current
CASH ettt ettt e s v s a et e et e st r s e ara s et e et e emeearesatsaasnesrras 28,896 $ 268,176
Short term AePOSILS. ... . uieiniien e iiieieeiaeia el e ne e eine e rencamaa e i anns 300,000 -
Accrued INtereSt FECEIVADIE ..........c.ovvevvereerereeeneieseseresseaetecesaessesesscscsescases 9,103 10,991
337,999 .279,167
Investments (market value $434,756) (NOLE 3) «....c.ovvummeviinimnnnininnnnnsinsnnes 418,000 435,000
Unamortized premiums 1ess disCOUNLS ........ccoveevverererscrcscarsiinsiasiessiensceseenns 2,488 3,512
758,487 $ 717,679
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Fund equity .............. e e e 758,487 § 717,679
758,487 $ 717,679
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited)
for the year ended 31 March 2002
2002 2001
Fund equity at beginning Of YEar .............ovevueuevreoresceemesemremreersecesmemmmnmanasins 717,679 § 673,893
Add
BANK INEEIESE ...oevveveeeriteeiieniieieieresteieesneseessemresmeeeteeeeentesasssssssansarasassassencs 6,870 11,474
Interest earned On IMVESLMENLS ...........ceveereveenierressrseserenesecaceesceesescnssnsones 34,779 33,050
41,649 44,524
Deduct:
Amortization of premiums less diSCOURLS ..........ooveeeeeeverierneciis e carinnens 841 738
Fund equity al €nd Of VAT ............oceoervereerereeniesenresssesscescsesaceensensemsessraransas 758,487 $§ 717,679

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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1. General

Treasury Board Minute 77-140 directed that the bequest to the Province from the Estate of Caroline deLancy Tomie be held in
a Trust Fund to be administered by the Department of Finance. As stipulated in the will, the funds are to be used for the treatment, by

psychoanalysis, of deserving New Brunswickers.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a)  Basis of Accounting

Bank interest and interest eamed on investments are reported on the statement of activity on the accrual basis.

b) Investments

Investments in bonds and debentures are reported on the statement of financial position at par value. Unamortized premiums
less discounts are reported separately on the statement as deferred charges. Short term deposits are recorded on the statement of

financial position at cost.

c)  Discounts and Premiums

Discounts and premiums are deferred and amortized to income on a constant yield basis over the remaining life of the related

security.

3. Investments

Value of the investments at 31 March 2002 is as follows:

Par

Value
Bonds and debentures issued or guaranteed by New Brunswick ......... $308,000
Bonds and debentures issued or guaranteed by other Provinces.............. 110.000

Net Book
Value

$305,797
114,691
$420.488

Market
Value

$318,785
115971
$434.756
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General vérificateur général

Notven :,.E.: Brunswick

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honourabie Peter Mesheau
Minister of Finance
Province of New Brunswick

| have audited the statement of net assets available for benefits of the Provincial Court Judges' Pension
Plans as at 31 March 2002 and the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year then
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plans’ trustee. My responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that | plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by the Plans’ trustee, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of tl?e
Plans as at 31 March 2002 and the results of its activities for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

/Q <

Daryl C. Wilson, FCA
Auditor General

Fredericton,N. B.
31 October 2002
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TRUST FUND NO. 10

PROVINCIAL COURT JUDGES’ PENSION PLANS _
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
31 MARCH 2002 ] o

o 2002 2001
ASSETS o

Investments (note 3) - $ 22,341,936 $ 21,247,947

Employee contributions receivable : 17,922 41,391
Total assets _ 22,359,858 B 21,289,338
LIABILITIES - |

Accounts payable SR 47,588 4,587

Deferred employer contributions ' 1,177,033 -
Total liabilities 1,224,621 - oo 4,587
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS $ 21,135,237 $ 21,284,751

The ai:cbtﬁpanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Jowh" Méilgr;) P g
Deplty MinfSter of Finance
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TRUST FUND NO. 10
PROVINCIAL COURT JUDGES’ PENSION PLANS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2002
2002 2001
INCREASE IN ASSETS
Investment income (note 4) 690,056 $ -
Securities lending 644 584
Pension contributions
- Employee ' 242,532 233,303
Province of New Brunswick 156,301 1,796,000
Total increase in assets 1,089,533 2,029,887
DECREASE IN ASSETS
Investment loss (note 4) - 1,645,778
Pensions 1,170,709 1,096,021
Administrative expenses 35,378 - 10,000
Investment management fees 27,312 20,786
Harmonized Sales Tax (note 5) 5,648 -
Total decrease in assets 1,239,047 2,772,585
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS (149,514) (742,698)
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 21,284,751 22,027,449
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS : :
AT END OF YEAR 21,135,237 $ 21,284,751

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 10

PROVINCIAL COURT JUDGES’ PENSION PLANS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 2002

1. Description of Plans

Judges appointed prior to 18 February 2000 may choose a pension plan under either the Provincial Court Act -
(PCA) or the Provincial Court Judges' Pension Act (PCJPA). Judges appointed on or after that date fall under
the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Act.

All transactions related to these plans are made through this Trust Fund except those related to the
Supplementary benefits available under the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Act. These Supplementary
benefits exceed the maximum benefits allowed under the Income Tax Act. The Consolidated Fund of the
Province pays these Supplementary benefits.

The following description of the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Plans is a summary only. F«_)r'more
information, reference should be made to the Provincial Court Act or the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Act.

(a) Judges’ Pension Plan under the Provincial Court Act (PCA)
i General
The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering Provincial Court Judges appo_inted
prior to 18 February 2000 who did not elect a pension under the PCJPA. The plan is established
under the authority of the Provincial Court Act and its regulations.

ii. - Funding Policy

Under the Plan, the Plan members and the Plan sponsor make contributions. ‘The determination of
the value of benefits owed by the Plan is made on the basis of an actuarial valuation (see note 6).

iii. Service Pensions

Pension benefits are equal to 60% of the final salary less 0.7% of the 3 year average of the year's
maximum pensionable eamings (YMPE) for each year of pensionable service after 31 August 1966.
Pension benefits are integrated wuth the Canadlan Pensmn Plan at age 65 and are indexed annually to
a maximum of 6%.

Normal retirement is at age 65. Mandatory retirement is at age 75. Unreduced benef ts are available
at age 60 with 25 years of service or at age 65 with 10 years of service.

iv. Dlsabmty Benef' ts .
A disability pension is available in the amount of 60% of the salary being paid on the date on which the

judge becomes entitled to be paid a disability benefit with a minimum of 2 years of pensionable
service.
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1. Description of Plans (continued)
V. Death Benefits
In the event of death in service and if less than 2 years of servii:e, the member’s contributions with
interest to the date of death will be refunded to the spouse or estate. However, if the member was
entitied to a vested pension, a spousal pension of 50% of the pension benefit is payable, and if there is
no spouse but there is a child, a pension is paid in respect of the child until age 18.
if a member dies after retirement, payments wili be contihued to the member's spciuse for the balance
of his/her lifetime at 50% of the amount payable to the member.
vi. Benefits on Termination
On termination of employment, with less than 10 years of pensibnable éervice, a membef will recei\{e
a refund of his own contributions, accumulated with interest, to the date of termination. A judge who is
not eligible for an unreduced pension because he/she has not attained the age of 65 years or does not
have 25 years of service may be eligible for a reduced annuity.

vii.  Income Taxes

The Plan is a Registered Pension Plan as defined in the income Tax Act and is not subject to income
taxes.

(b) Judges’ Pension Plan under the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Act (PCJPA)

i General

The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering all Provincial Court Judges appoinged
on or after 18 February 2000. Judges appointed prior to 18 February 2000 may choose a pension
under the PCA or the PCJPA. The plan is established under the authority of the Provincial Court
Judges’ Pension Act and its regulations.

ii.  Funding Policy

Under the Plan, the Plan members and the Plan sponsor make contributions. "The determination of
the value of benefits owed by the Plan is made on the basis of an actuarial valuation (see note 6).

iii. Service Pensions
Pension benefits are 2.75% per year of service up to a maximum pension of 65% calculated on

average salary. Average salary is the highest average annual salary of an active judge for any pe{iod
of 36 successive months. Maximum pension credits to be accumulated equals 23.63 years of service.
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1. Description of Plans (continued)

There is no integration and pension benefits are indexed annually to a maximum of 5%. A judge with
2 years on the bench can retire without reduction at age 60. A judge with 2 years of pensionable
service can retire early with a 3% reduction for each year before the age 60. There are options for
judges to choose alternate survivor pensions and guarantee periods.

There is no mandatory retirement age although contributions are fo cease when the maximum
pension benefit of 65% is reached or after the day following the last day of the year in which the
member attains age 69. Payment of pension benefits must commence on the day following the last
day of the year in which the member attains age 69.

iv. Disability Benefits

A disability benefit is available in the amount of 60% of the salary being paid at the date of disability
and is payable to age 65. At age 65, the disability benefit ceases and the judge must retire and be
paid a disability pension equal to 2.75% times the number of years projected to age 65 times the
average salary at the date of disability.

V. Death Benefits

in the event of death in service where the judge had at least two years of pensionable service and was
under age 65, a spousal pension is payable in the amount of 50% of the annual pension that would
have been payable if the judge had continued in service as a judge to the age of 65 based on the
average salary at the time of death. If there is no spouse but there is a child, a pension is paid in
respect of the child until age 19. If the child is-in full-time attendance at an educational institutiop, a
pension is paid in respect of the child until the age of 25 or when the child ceases to be in full-time
attendance at the educational institution, whichever occurs first.

In the event of death in service where the judge had at least two years of pensionable service apd was
age 65 but not yet 69, a spousal pension is payable in the amount of 50% of the annual pension thgt
would have been payable to the judge if the judge had retired on the date of his/her death. If the(e is
no spouse but there is a child, a pension is paid in respect of the child until age 19. If the child is in
full-time attendance at an educational institution, a pension is paid in respect of the child until the age
of 25 or when the child ceases to be in full-time attendance at the educational institution, whichever
occurs first.

The normal form of pension for a surviving spouse if the member dies after retirement is payable in
the amount of 50% of the annual pension being paid to the judge on the date of the judges’ death. If
there is no spouse but there is a child, a pension is paid in respect of the child until age 19. .lf the phlld
is in full-ime attendance at an educational institution, a pension is paid in respect of the child until the
age of 25 or when the child ceases to be in full-time attendance at the educational institution,
whichever occurs first. : '
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1. Description of Plans (continued)

Alternate provisions include:

If a.member dies after retirement, ‘and the judge had a surviving spouse at the time of retirement and
elected a higher spousal benefit in exchange for a reduced pension, the spousal benefit is payable in
accordance with the option chosen at retirement (e.g. 60%, 66 2/3%, 75% or 100%). A member may
also elect at the same time to have guaranteed payments made to the surviving spouse and estate for
a period of 5, 10, or 15 years after pension benefits have commenced being paid to the member.
These options are only available to the spouse who is a spouse at the date the annual pension
commences to be paid at the time of the judges’ retirement.

A judge with no spouse or dependent child may elect to be paid a reduced pension with guaranteed
payment to the judge’s estate for the period of 5, 10, or 15 years.

Vi. Benefits on Termination

On termination of employment, with less than 2 years of pensionable service, prior to gntitlement toa
pension, a member will receive a refund of his own contributions, accumulated with !nterest, to tr!e
date of termination. On termination of employment, with 2 years of pensionable service and who is
less than 60 years of age, the member is eligible for a deferred pension at age 60 or reduced benefits
prior to age 60.

vii. Income Taxes

The Plan is a Registered Pension Plan as defined in the Income Tax Act and is not subject to income
taxes.

Transitional Provisions (Judges appointed prior to 18 February 2000)

A judge who ceases to make contributions when the maximum pension has been reached or'when‘reaching
69 years, or has elected a reduced pension, guaranteed payments, early retirement, or deferred pension t_mdgr
the PCJPA, shall be deemed to have elected to be paid benefits only under the PCJPA and the election is

irrevocable.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and present the aggregate financial
position of the Plans as a financial reporting entity independent of the plan sponsors and plan members. These
statements are prepared to assist plan members and others in reviewing the activities of the Plans for the fiscal
period, but they do not portray the funding requirements of the Plans or the benefit security of individual plan
members. :
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

{b) Investments

On 1 April 1998, the assets of the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Plans were transferred to unit trust funds
established by the New Brunswick investment Management Corporation (NBIMC).

All investments of the Plans are represented by holdings of units of the unit trust funds. The total value is
based on the calculated net asset value muitiplied by the number of units held.

Investments are valued at their fair value as of the date of the financial statements. For securities listed on an
exchange, fair value is the closnng price listed on the exchange. If no closing price is available, the average of
the latest bid and ask prices is used. Securities not listed on an exchange are valued based on a quotation
service from a recognized dealer. Investments in money market instruments are reported at cost, which
approximates market value. Investments denominated in a foreign currency are translated into their Canadian
dollar equivalents at the year-end exchange rate.

{c) Revenue Recognition

All investment transactions are recognized as of their trade date. Interest income and dividend income have
been accrued at year-end. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate prevailing at the time of the transaction.

Derivative products such as foreign exchange contracts, futures and swaps are recorded at the value the qnit
trust funds would have paid or received had the contract been terminated at the year-end date. The resulting
gain or loss is included in investment income.

Both realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in investment income.

3. Investments

(a) Trustee

The assets of the Provincial Court Judges Pension Plans are held in trust by NBIMC. NBIMC was appointed
as trustee on 11 March 1996 by an Act of the New Brunswick Legislature which bears its name (NBIMC Act)
and assumed responsibility for the management of the Fund’s assets effective 1 April 1996.

(b) Investments
There are currently 13 unit trust funds, eaéh with a specific investment mandate. The unit trust funds are

established pursuant to a Unit Trust Declaration made by the NBIMC on 1 April 1998. Each fund is an open-
end, unincorporated trust, governed by the laws of the Province of New Brunswick.
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3. Investments (continued)

Following is a description of each unit trust fund in existence during the year ended March 31, 2002:
Nominal Bond:

Invests primarily in investment grade bonds (a minimum of triple-B rated by a maj:or ratir}g agency) of G-‘7
countries and Canadian provinces paying a nominal rate of interest. The return objective is to add 20 basis
points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital All Government Index, over a four-year moving average.

New Brunswick Fixed Income Opportunity:

Invests primarily in fixed income issues. to finance economic activity in New Brunswick. The retum objectivg is
to add 20 basis points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital All Government Index, over a four-year moving
average.

Inflation Linked Securities:

Invests primarily in fixed income instruments of G-7 countries that are adjusted for inflation. The return
objective is to add 10 basis points to its benchmark, the Scotia Capital Real Return Bond Index, over a four-
year moving average.

Money Market:

Invests primarily in fixed income securities having a maturity of less than one year. The return objective is to
add 20 basis points to its benchmark, which is calculated as 80% of the Scotia Capital 91-Day Treasury Bill
index and 20% of the Call Loan Rate. :

Aliocation Equity International:

This fund is used to implement asset allocation decisions and diversify equity investments by participating in
the equity markets of the U.S., Japan, the U.K,, Germany, France and italy. lts primary investmen}s are
derivative products such as futures, options and swaps. Leverage is avoided by ensuring each derivative
product is supported by an appropriate value of short-term investments.

Aliocation Equity Domestic:

This fund is used to implement asset allocation decisions by investing in the Canadian equity marlfet. Its
primary investments are derivative products such as futures, options and swaps. Leverage is avoided by
ensuring each derivative product is supported by an appropriate value of short-term investments.

New Brunswick and Atlantic Canada Equity Opportunity:

This fund invests in public and private equities or instruments convertible into equities of New Brunswick and

Atlantic Canada companies. The return objective is to add 80 basis points to its benchmark, the TSE 300,
over a four-year moving average.
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3. Investments (continued)

Canadian Equity:

investments are selected pﬁmarily from the top 120 companies on the Toronto Stock. Exchange. The return
objective is to add 80 basis points to its benchmark, the TSE 300, over a four-year moving average.

TSE Small-Cap:

Managed by an external manager, this fund invests primarily in the bottom 180 companies of the TSE 300
Index. The retumn objective is to exceed the performance of its benchmark, the S&P/TSE Small-Cap Index, by
100 basis points.

Private Equity:

This fund, which was launched on February 1, 2001, is managed by external managers that invest primarily in
non-publicly traded securities of U.S. and European companies. The refurn objective is to exceed the
performance of its benchmark, a blend of the S&P 500, FTSE-100, DAX, CAC-40 and MIB-30 total return
indices, by 300 basis points over a four-year moving average.

U.S. Real Estate:

This fund, which was launched on February 1, 2001, is managed by an external manager that invests primari!y
in publicly traded securities of U.S. Real Estate Investment Trusts. The return objective is to add 150 basis
paints to the NAREIT®Equity Index.

Public Equity:

This fund, which was launched on August 15, 2001, is managed by external managers. Two managers are
currently in place, with each having 50% allocation of total assets. One manager invests primarily in U.S.
publicly-traded companies and has a return objective of 200 basis points above the S&P 500 Total Return
index. The other manager invests primarily in European publicly-traded companies and has a return objective
of 200 basis points above its benchmark, an equal blend of the total return indices for the FTSE-100, DAX,
CAC-40 and MIB-30 indices. .

Student Investment:

This fund is managed by students at the University of New Brunswick who are registered in the Student
Investment Fund Program. " Its initial base was $1 million and is to be invested using the same philosophy as
that used by NBIMC. The overall benchmark for this fund is composed of 50% S&P/TSE 60, 45% Scotia
Capital All Government Iindex and 5% Scotia Capital 91-Day Treasury Bill Index. The activities of this fund are
closely monitored by NBIMC staff who execute and process all transactions on behalf of the students.
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3. Investments (continued)

The following table reflects the holdings of the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Plans in the unit trust funds for
which NBIMC is trustee.

. Unit 2002 2001
Units Value Amount Amount
Fixed Income:
Nominal Bond 4657 $ 1,162 $ 5415752 § 5,091,676
New Brunswick _
Fixed Income Opportunity : 128 1,242 159,524 164,731
5,675,276 5,256,407
Inflation Linked Securities 2,125 1,275 2,708,836 2,412,169
Money Market : ' 929 1,165 1,082,980 661,022
9,367,092 8,329,598
Equities:
Allocation Equity International 3,313 1,094 3,624,173 4,439,676
Allocation Equity Domestic 234 1,391 325,103 910,651
~ New Brunswick and Atlantic
Canada Equity Opportunity 176 1,281 225858 158,009
Canadian Equity 5,782 1,098 6,347,192 5,813,110
TSE Small-Cap 594 1,195 709,339 509,177
Private Equity 809 830 671,089 617,473
U.S. Real Estate 392 1,190 466,960 465,774
Public Equity , 626 960 600,453 -
12,970,167 12,913,870
Balanced: , .
Student Investment 4 1,291 4677 4,479

$ 22,341,936 $ 21,247,947

(c) Risk Management

Rates of return vary based on the degree of uncertainty. The fundamental sources of uncertainty to which
investments are exposed are credit risk and price risk. Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Price risk is
comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk. Currency risk is the risk that the value of an
investment will fluctuate due to future changes in foreign exchange rates. Interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of an investment will fluctuate due to future changes in market interest rates. Market risk is the risk that
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of future changes in market prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities
traded in the market.
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3. Investments (continued)

Risk is reduced through asset class diversification, diversification within each asset class, quality constraints on
fixed income instruments and restrictions by limiting most investments to G-7 countries. Borrowing or
leveraging is not allowed. Controls are in place respecting the use of derivatives. Forward foreign exchange
contracts are used to manage currency exposure in connection with securities purchased in foreign currency.

4. Investment Income

The following table reflects the investment income of the Provincial Court Judges® Pension Plans in each of the
unit trust plans for which NBIMC is trustee for the year ended 31 March 2002.

Current Period

Interest Dividends Increase/ Total
' {Decrease) in
Market Value
Fixed Income:
Nominal Bond $ 287,871 $ - 3 (32,532) $ 255,339
New Brunswick
Fixed Income Opportunity 11,247 - (3,145) 8,102
299,118 ’ - (35,677) 263,441
Inflation Linked Securities 91,581 - (22,434) 69,147
Money Market 41,914 - (6,960) 34,954
432,613 - (65,071) 367,542
Equities:
Allocation Equity International 171,845 - (394,699) {222,854)
Allocation Equity Domestic 26,533 - 45,836 72,369
New Brunswick and Atlantic -
Canada Equity Opportunity - 7,519 6,939 {4,450) 10,008
Canadian Equity - 20,792 3,368 267,693 291,853 -
TSE Small-Cap 191 11,664 87,015 98,870
Private Equity 25,776 - (34,114) (8,338)
U.S. Real Estate 262 30,520 63,723 94,505
Public Equity 249 2,634 (16,980) {14,097)
’ 253,167 55,125 14,024 - 322,316
Balanced: -
Student Investment 137 41 20 198
Total - 2002 $ 685,917 $ 55,166 $ (51,027) $ 690,056

Total - 2001 $ 786,376 $ 36,043 $ (2,468,197) §  (1,645,778)
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5. Harmonized Sales Tax

After extensive - discussions between NBIMC and the Canada Customs -and Revenue Agency, it was
determined that NBIMC was obligated to collect and remit Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) on the fees it charges
to the pension funds under its trusteeship. As a result, NBIMC voluntarily collected and remitted HST to
Canada Customs and Revenue Agency for the years 1996 to 2001 during 2002. This amount is reported as a
separate item on the statement of changes in net assets. HST related to the 2001-2002 fiscal year has been
included under the caption “Investment management fees” on the statement of changes in net assets.

6. Funding Policy

Effective February 18, 2000 members are required to contribute 7% of salary. The employer contributes an
amount determined by an actuarial valuation that together with judges’ contributions is necessary to cover
current service cost under the registered portion of the plan. Contributions must cease when the maximum
pension benefit amount (65% of average salary) is reached or age 69 whichever occurs earfier.

If additional amounts are required to amortize any unfunded liability in relation to benefits payable under the
registered portion of the plan as determined by an actuarial valuation, the Minister of Finance shall, at the
request of Board of Management, pay equal annual installments over a period determined by the Minister out
of the Consolidated Fund into the Trust Fund.

The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was prepared by Morneau Sobeco, -a firm of
consulting actuaries, as of 1 April 2001. This valuation disclosed an unfunded liability at 1 April 2001.

7. Obligation for Pension Benefits

The present value of accrued pension benefits was determined using the accrued benefit actuarial cost
method, prorated on service and actuarial assumptions which reflect management's best estimate for the
future. An actuarial valuation was made as of 1 April 2002 by Morneau Sobeco.

Significant long-term assumptions used in the valuation are:

Rate of return on assets 71.9%

Annual wage and salary increase 4.5%

Inflation 3.5% ,

Rate of pension escalation after retirement Subject to 5% maximum-
3.3%

Subject to 6% maximum-
3.4%
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7. Obligation for Pension Benefits {continued)

The actuarial present value of the total benefits as at 31 March and the principal components of changes in
actuarial present values during the year were as follows:

2002
(in millions)
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits
at beginning of year $ 23.07
Interest accrued on benefits : 1.82
Benefits accrued 0.97
Benefits paid (1.17)
Experience gains (0.12)
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits
atend of year $ 24.57
Net assets available for benefits $ 2114

Any benefits exceeding those allowed under the Income Tax Act are paid by the Consolidated Fund and not
Trust Fund 10. For fiscal year ending 31 March 2002:

Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits to be paid through the

Consolidated Fund , $3,045,500
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits to be paid by this Fund $21,524,300
8. Investments in Plan Sponsor

As at 31 March 2002, the Provincial Court Judges’ Pension Plans held:

e 0.3% of the total nominal bond unit trust fund of $1,756,898,534. Of this total, $11,481,955 consisted
of Province of New Brunswick and Province of New Brunswick guaranteed securities.

s 0.4% of the total $283,523,479 in the Money Market Fund. Of this total, $26,939,783 consisted of short
term Province of New Brunswick guaranteed securities. :

e 04% of the total $1,313,557 in the Student Investment Fund. Of this total, $63,178 consisted of
Province of New Brunswick securities.
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ASSETS 2002 2001
Current: )
(@51 | ST UU S SO SO PSP USSR UURIUUP I OPPOSPPPPPIN $ 10,514 $ 62,000
Accrued interest reCeiVADIE ..........oceeerrrireeemereeceeresstsasrssrsisse s sssssasons 2,098 1,940
12,612 63,940
Investments (market value $113,456) (NOE 3) ...ccevvvreinriiniisiirinrincnnanenannnn 110,000 , 60,000
Deferred Charges: '
Unamortized premiums 1655 diSCOUNLS ........c...vereereeeemcereesecsreaecessssrsanans 27 (353)
$ 122585 § 123,587
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
FUNA EQUILY «..coeeerecietce et rteeecee e eene e eaeni e e e e s e em st a s e sen e nass $ 122,585 $ 123,587
$ 122,585 $ 123,587
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited)
for the year ended 31 March 2002
2002 2001
Fund equity at beginning Of YEAr ...........ocoveverrerceeeeremrerecieiian e ceinressssisnsnsces $ 123,587 § 123,684
Add:
BanK INLELESE ...vovvevieeeiiiictetcenreretsie st s em st e saereieseeerererastsasnsasansnesansssasanas 1,186 2,839
Interest earned On INVESUMENS ...........ocurviveesererreraeeecesmeerersesecsessisersnssnsasans 6,489 6,047
7,675 8,886
Deduct:
Payment of E. Belle Lynds Scholarships .........ccccurrecmmimnirsisssnssneseenecaces 8,505 8,604
Amortization of premiums 1€ss diSCOUNLS ...........covmeceecncervcucusiinmmsmsinnssessnes . 172 ELEN
8,677 8,983
Fund equity at €nd Of YEAT ........ooviireererececceccacaecnniisemrsenae s s nasseseensaencas $ 122585 § 123,587

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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1. General

The Margaret R. Lynds Bequest Fund is held in trust by the Minister of Finance under the authority of thf: Last Will and
Testament of Margaret R. Lynds, and a Decree Varying Trust issued by the Court of Queen's Bench of New Brunswick. Investment

income from the Fund is used to award a maximum of three annual scholarships, of equal value, to students pursuing the study of
communications at specified Universities. For the year ending 31 March 2002, three scholarships were awarded.

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a)  Basis of Accounting
Bank interest and interest earned on investments are reported on the statement of activity on the accrual basis.

b) Investments

Investments in bonds and debentures are reported on the statement of financial position at par value. Unamortized premiums
less discounts are reported separately on the statement as deferred charges.

¢)  Discounts and Premiums

Discounts and premiums are deferred and amortized to income on a constant yield basis over the remaining life of the related
security.
3. Investments

Value of the investments at 31 March 2002 is as follows:

Par Net Book Market

Value Value Value
Bonds and debentures issued or guaranteed by New Brunswick ............ $ 85,000 $ 84,605 $ 87.153
Bonds and debentures issued or guaranteed by other Provinces ............ 25.000 25,368 26,303

$110000  $109973  $113.456
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(unaudited) -
as at 31 March 2002
ASSETS | 2002 2001
~ Current: ‘ : : } o
CaSH e e ereveeeesseassseraesiassestesreen o $ . 2100 $ @ 25827
- Accrued interest receivable ........ evrreueeeaeresrasarsasesan . 848,468 ' 848,468
' * 850,568 - 874295
Investments (market value $33 05 1,322) (Note 2 ........... 34,170,000 29,573,000
‘Deferred charges: : T _
Unamoruzed premiums lees dxscolmts...; .............. ereaeai . (2,825,840) {1,598,215)
' ’ 0§ 32194728 $ 28,849,080
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
FUDA ©QUILY ...ovvvereereseessessmmsminenssensess s ssmsssssssssss s ' $ ..32,194728  $ 28,849,080
$ 32194728 $ 28,849,080

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Einancial Statements.




2002 PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME 4 ‘ 57

» TRUST FUND NO. 19 ;
THE NEW BRUNSWICK POWER CORPORATION SINKING FUND
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited)
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2002 2001
Fund equity at begmmng Of YA iouvuiievemeccessensecemessenenens - . $ 28,849,080 § 51,167,562
Add: ’ L o . C
BanK ADEETESE. . eveeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeetssesssessenitonnsses reerverreenas ‘ 1,460 - : 2,802
Interest earned on INVESHMENLS ..oocveeerioveuencinraeceecniaenion 1,835,848 2,431,770
Net gain on disposal of debentures ............ccvveveiverenense - 204,583
Sinking fund installments ..........cccovveeiveneenerercseeersecceens 1,250,000 2,000,000
Amortization of discounts less premiums....................... 258,340 (1,220,638)
3,345,648 3,418,517
. .Deduct: -
~ Punds. provxded for redempuon of debenmres . o T
12.50% 01 May 2005.......c.ccomiveeiicicinns eoedbeesearbes o= 25736,999
- 25 736 999
Fund equity at end of year $ 32,194,728 $ 28, 849 080

The acébmpanying notes are an integral pari of these Financial Statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 19 .
THE NEW BRUNSWICK POWER CORPORATION SINKING FUND
~ NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
31 MARCH 2002

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a)  The Accounting Entity
The New Brunswick Power Corporation Sinking Fund is held in trust by the Minister of Finance under-the authority of Section

15 of the Electric Power Act. The Act provides that the Corporation shall pay to the Minister such payments for sinking fund
purposes as may be required by the terms of any bond or debenture issue and such funds shall be retained and invested for the

account of the Corporation to make payment at the maturity of any such bonds or debentures.
b) Accruﬂ Aooouhﬁng '

Interest eamcdi oﬁ investments isl reported on the statement of activity on the accrual basis. -
<) Foreigh Currency Translation '

Investments and accrued interest receivable on securmes held in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the statement of financial position date. Unrealized gains and losses arising on translauon of long-term investments are
deferred and amortized to income on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the related security.

d) Valuat:on of Investmcnts

Investments in bonds and debentures are repoxted on the statement of financial position at par value. Unamomzed discounts
less premiums and the unamortized balance of unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses are reported separately on the statement as
deferred credits or charges. Short term deposits are reported on the statement of financial position at cost.

e)  Discounts and Premiums

Discounts and premiums are deferred and amortized to income on a constant yield basis over the remaining life of the related
security. ’

For investments in bonds and debentures in foreign currencies, the cost of investments is amortized to Canadian dollar par
value, calculated as foreign currency par value at the exchange rate at the date the fund purchased the investment.

2. Investments

Value of the investments at 31 March 2002 is as follows:

Par Carrying Market
Value Value Value
Bonds and debentures issued or guaranteed by New Brunswick ............. $34.170.000 $31344.161 $33.051.322

$34170000 $31.344.161 $33.051.322
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TRUST FUND NO. 20

- VISCOUNT BENNETT BEQUEST

'FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

31 MARCH 2002




60 ~ PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME 4

- 2002

TRUST FUND NO. 20
VISCOUNT BENNETT BEQUEST
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(unaudited)
as at March 31, 2002

ASSETS

Current:

Investments (market value $221,759) (NOte 3) ..ot
Deferred Charges:
Unamortized prepiums ess diSCOUNLS .......ooieveiiennrenrtirnineienecnneenreceans

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY

Current liabilities: ‘ . S .
Unexpended trust income (NOtE 4) ....oevenrerrnieeciioniinns et ool

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited) S
for the Year Ended 31 March 2002

Fund equity at beginning of YEar .........vveemiiienee s e

Add:
BANK ANLEIESE «.veveereeeeeeieeieeeeeesvicerreerreessssassrassneeassaseoneosssississsssssssssssasssnnanns
Interest earned ON IRVESLIMENLS .....coiiivreeeierecerreseercsearesaneassaneeseesssnmensssrnnes

Deduct:
Amortization of premiums less discounts ..............coooeeninee eeveseensssneasanee
Trust income available for eXpenditure ...........cccorvveinennicniniiiiicncnas

Fund equity at end Of Year ...........covimieimrnmaeniessecscestsinc s nns

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

2002 2001
$ 16354  $ 95,468
4243 4,179
20,597 99,647
212,000 135,000
925 1,023
$ 233522 $ 235670
$ 30,492 $ 32,640
203,030 203,030
$ 233522 $§ 235670

2002 2001
$ 203030 $§ 203,030
1,768 5,612
14,462 11,264
16,230 16,876
320 292
15,910 16,584
16,230 16,876
$ 203030 $ 203,030
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TRUST FUND NO. 20
VISCOUNT BENNETT BEQUEST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
31 MARCH 2002

1.  General

The szcount Bennett Bequest is held in trust by the Minister of Fmanoe under the authority of Board of Management Minute
88-0051. The income from the fund is used for the development of the Province's historic resources.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

" a) -Basis of Accounting
Bank interest and interest eamed on investments are reported on the statement of activity on the accrual basis.

b) Investments

Investments in bonds and debentures are reported on the statement of financial position at par value. Unamortized premiums
less discounts are reported separately on the statement as deferred charges.

c)  Discounts and Premiums

Discounts and premiums are deferred and amc;rtized to income on a constant yield basis over the remaining life of the related
security.
3. Investments

Value of the investments at 31 March 2002 is as follows:

Par Net Book Market
Value Value Value
Bonds and debentures issued or guaxantced by New Brunswick ......... $167,000 $167,751 $173,572
Other bonds and debentures ... 45,000 45.174 . 48,187

$212,000 $212,925 $221.759
4. Unexpended Trust income

Unexpended trust income from the date of inception of the fund is recorded on the balance sheet as a current liability. This
represents the amount available for expenditure for the purposes of the trust.

Changes in the balance of unexpended trust income during the year were as follows:

Unexpended trust income at beginning of year ) $32,640
Add: Trust income for the year : ’ : 15,910

. . 48,550
Less: Grants paid ., . -~ 18,058

Unexpended trust income at end of year _ ‘ : $30,492
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TRUST FUND NO. 23 -

_ ARTS DEVELOPIMENT TRUST FUND

- FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudite‘d)

31 MARCH 2002
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_ TRUST FUND NO. 23
ARTS DEVELOPMENT TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(unaudited)
as at 31 March 2002
ASSETS 2002 2001
Current:
CASH cuvvieeeieeecceceeeiress s es st ee e ane s s aane e eanat soreessonnatanae s et s e e e e e nbesaraen $ 5,120 29,299
Short term deposits (par value $1,000,000) ......ccoooniioeriicineiniccncecionienes 1,000,000 1,400,000
Lottery revenue receiVable ... ...ccecoeerecnierrciiinisisnsssssiiesressneisssnssensaeens - 641,405
Accrued interest reCEIVable .......ccoocvveeeiicreernomrremriisise ettt senees 232 299
' $ 1,005,352 2,071,003
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Current liabilities: -
ACCOURLS PAYADLE ......oeerecnirecceciiiriinrrrsrrtsasatessresen et st na e s eanane $ 490,000 1,039,420
FUBG BQUILY «--vevvr e seeeeereeseeeseesesscaomseseseseessesssmssssonsesosessmmssesse s 515,352 1,031,583
$ 1,005,352 2,071,003
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited)
for the Year Ended 31 March 2002
2002 2001
Fund equity at beginning of YEar .........cceimenimiiieiiiereseree e $ 1,031,583 1,293,611
Add:
LOUETY TEVETLUES -.....eeveunruerincecanecsusarimsnestesrstsnsassasansssemsessseresessssenamrnsacs 700,000 700,000
IDVESUMENE IICOIMIE «.oeeeeveeeveeeeeeeeeeceeaeaeeeeseeenssmnesescasnnamsaseas sessnmtrnassassssasnnses 31,759 75,489
BANK INLEIESE . ooeoeeeeeiieieieeeesteeeerre e aee e e e s arrataesresennssssatassnssssenssnsnsanssosanne 2,010 1,903
733,769 777,392
Deduct:
Arts development eXPenditUres ..........ccooiierieresveninineaeeienene e 1,250,000 1,039,420
Fund equity at end Of Year ...........cocooiiiiii e $ 515,352 1,031,583

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 23
ARTS DEVELOPMENT TRUST FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
31 MARCH 2002

1. General

The Arts Development Trust Fund is established under the authority of the Arts Development Trust Fund Act. The Act
provides that the net profits of the Lotteries Commission of New Brunswick from the lottery scheme designated under paragraph
11.1(a) of the Lotteries Act shall be paid into the Fund. In the event that the amount paid pursuant to paragraph 11.1(a) does not total
seven hundred thousand dollars, an amount sufficient to ensure that the total amount paid equals seven hundred thousand dollars shall
be paid into the Fund. The Fund is held in trust by the Minister of Finance and assets of the Fund are used to provide grants to
individuals and arts organizations so as to promote artistic creation and excellence in the Arts.

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a)  Basis of Accounting

Revenues and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis.

b)  Short Term Deposits

Short term deposits are reported on the statement of financial position at cost.
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TRUST FUND NO. 24
| »(‘SPORT DEVELOPMENT TRUST FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

31 MARCH 2002
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2002

TRUST FUND NO. 24
SPORT DEVELOPMENT TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(unaudited)
as at 31 March 2002
ASSETS

Current:

CaSH ettt ettt e bttt neeenenes

Lottery revenue receivable ............oo.ooooieoeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e

Accrued interest receivable ............oooemieereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenns [

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Acoounts payable ..ot e R
PUNA @QUILY ...t sae s s ns

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited)
for the Year Ended 31 March 2002

Fund equity at beginning of YEar ..............ccocovveeevvvnieerieesireeeiesreeesssvenenons

Add:
LOUETY TEVEIIUES ......vereeieireeeteee et vt eeassenesesasesses s st smennaes

INVESUMENE IMCOMIE ...t eeeeeseeeee e seeeseemseeeeneneeeeseeeaerenaens
BanK INTETES ...ttt eee e eeaeeeeeseeeseeem st steasoes

Deduct:
Sport development eXPEndittures ..............c.cceverevmiesereresersrmsaessemsincsseesseeesens

Fund equity at end Of YEar .......cocoovoovieiiiecieees e etene e rnenens

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

2002 2001
$ 235687 § 162,486
438,552
227 655
$ 235914 § 601,693
$ 144,887 § 500232
91,027 101,461
$ 235914 § 601,693
2002 2001
$ 101461 $ 104,321
500,000 500,000
219
3,351 7,372
503,570 507,372
514,004 510,232
$ 91,027 _§ 101461
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TRUST FUND NO. 24
SPORT DEVELOPMENT TRUST FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
31 MARCH 2002

1.  General

The Sport Development Trust Fund is established under the authority of the Sport Development Trust Fund Act. The Act
provides that the net profits of the Lotteries Commission of New Brunswick from the lottery scheme designated under paragraph
11.1(b) of the Lotteries Act shall be paid into the Fund. In the event that the amount paid pursuant to paragraph 11.1(b) does not total
five hundred thousand dollars, an amount sufficient to ensure that the total amount paid equals five hundred thousand dollars shall be
paid into the Fund. The Fund is held in trust by the Minister of Finance and assets of the Fund are used to provide grants to
individual athletes and sport organizations to promote leadership and excellence in sport.
2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a)  Basis of Accounting

Revenues and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis.

b)  Short Term Deposits

Short-term deposits are reported on the statement of financial position at cost.
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TRUST FUND NO. 25
NEW BRUNSWICK PUBLIC LIBRARIES TRUST FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
(unaudited}

31 MARCH 2002
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2002

TRUST FUND NO. 25
NEW BRUNSWICK PUBLIC LIBRARIES TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(unaudited)
as at 31 March 2002
ASSETS 2002 2001
Current:
CASH et et st e e e e s me i nesas $ 116,077 $ 111,894
Accrued Interest TECEIVADIE .......ccocveiroirieriincrriniereeneei e et nresesisasaseanrenns 173 451
$ 116250 § 112,345
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Fund equity ....cocoveeeeiccenrareinnne ettt ettt et ea st ia s sa e sbe e nee $ 116250  § 112,345
‘ $ 116,250 $ 112,345
The accompanying notes are an integral part of ‘these‘Financial Statements.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited) o
for the year ended 31 March 2002
2002 2001
Fund equity at beginning Of Year ..........ccccocimriinmirnnnnierencierre s $ 112,345 $ 106,522
Add: :
BANK HLETESE ...voovooveiveeces e ceecse et s e se s sseeeseseaeseeesesseeseessessine csssees 3,905 5,823
Fund equity at end of year ............ocoeeveenee. erasessermssssires et ae s tnas s $ 116250 § 112,345

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 25
NEW BRUNSWICK PUBLIC LIBRARIES TRUST FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
31 MARCH 2002

1. General

The New Brunswick Public Libraries Trust Fund is established under the authority of the New Brunswick‘ P.ublic‘ Libraries
Foundation Act. The Fund is held in trust by the Minister of Finance. The purpose of the Foundation includes receiving gifts of real
and personal property to support public libraries and public library services in the Province.
2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a)  Basis of Accounting

Revenues and expenditures are reported on ﬁe accrual basis.
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TRUST FUND NO. 29
ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST FUND
" FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

31 MARCH 2002
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TRUST FUND NO. 29
ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(unaudited)
as at 31 March 2002
ASSETS 2002 2001
Current:
CASL <.eveveeeee e e et eeeeeeeeaee et e estssstsseetenreteesesna et aataseseas s e et aeeane e b e et s e R reenes $ 69,675 $ 51,373
Short term deposits (par value $ 3,500,000) ........c.cooorrmrieinreriaisssnacnnecsencecns 3,500,000 2,100,000
Environmental fees receivable .........viviieiiiiieeeeersaevneeeeecincncaie st e 850,851 - 833,792
Accrued Interest TECEIVADIE ......ccvieveveeieeieeereeeeeeiiernnsreescreneesesseesesssssrarnanenes 673 602
$ 4,421,199 $ 2985767
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY'
Current liabilities: v v '
AccoUnts Payable ...........ooirirerenienenicenreieeenneesaenens errereevieieserenraeneenes estnes $ 2,675,787 $ 1,573,915
PUNA @QUILY .. vevieoeeeeeereeereeeen e sssss e sscsseiees et 1,745,412 1,411,852

$ 4,421,199 $ 2,985,767

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY
(unaudited)
for the year ended 31 March 2002
2002 2001
Fund equity at beginning of YEar ...t caccisasnnsenness $ 1411852 $§ 1,369,130
Add: '
EnVironmental fEES ........ooieviieeieereeserrereriesecsesisaesasssessessssessssesesrassssarseanns 4,943,860 4,698,236
Interest earned ON INVESIMENLS .....looeeiieeerececireeinessaresenssieneeesstesasshasaras 84,716 195,746
BALK AILEIESE - oeoeoeoeeeeeeeeeeeveeeeeeeeeeeesiseenssaeeresseasuesresensersanssarsananasassaeans 4259 6,288
5,032,835 4,900,270
Deduct:
EXpenditures .........cccooveivimisirmsieiecns et erieereersasresbaease e e tea e s earasbeanes 4,699,275 4,857,548
Fund equity at €nd Of YEaT ..........ovcuerruluerereemmrcarernsrassasisssnssssiuecucsnssssnaass $ 1745412 § 1411852

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.




2002 PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME 4

77

TRUST FUND NO. 29
ENVIRONMENTAL TRUST FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

31 MARCH 2002

1.  General

The Environmental Trust Fund is established under the authority of the Environmental Trust Fund Act. The Beverage
Containers Act provides that fifty per cent of the environmental fees shall be paid into the Fund.

Under the Environmental Trust Fund Act, the Minister of Finance is the custodian and trustee of the Fund. The assets .Of the
Fund are to be used to pay for costs incurred to provide for environmental protection and restoration, and to promote the sustainable
development of natural resources within the Province.
2. Summal;y of Significant Accounting Policies
a) . Basis of Accounting

Revenues and expenditures are recorded on the accrual basis.

b)  Short Term Deposits

Short term deposits are reported on the statement of financial position at cost.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PENSION P1.AN FOR MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES
oF NEw BrRuNswick ScHOOL DISTRICTS
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General vérificateur général

Notocom :ﬂ;-iBrunswick

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honourable Peter Mesheau
Minister of Finance .
Province of New Brunswick

{ have audited the statement of net assets available for benefits of the Pension Plan for Management
Employees of New Brunswick School Districts as at 31 December 2001 and the statement of changes in net
assets available for benefits for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Plan's trustee. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

| conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that | plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by the Plan's trustee, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Plan as at 31 December 2001 and the results of its activities for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

74

Daryl C. Wilson, FCA
Auditor General

Fredericton, N. B.
3 May 2002
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2002

TRUST FUND NO. 30

PENSION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES

OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

‘31 DECEMBER 2001

ASSETS
Investments
Money market instruments
Bonds and debentures -
Canadian common stocks
Foreign pooled equities

Receivables .
Accrued interest and dividends
Cash
Total assets

LIABILITIES -
Accounts payable

thal liabilities

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

2001 2000

$ 1,053,985 $ 344540
6,960,740 7,632,516
3,898,754 - 4,646,000
1,378,180 1,828,815
13,291,659 14,451,871
80,419 66,334

2,335 4,193
13,374,413 14,522,398
11,163 44,208
11,163 44,208

$ 13,363,250 $ 14,478,190

The,accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

AL

Johfi Mallory _
Depu irfister of Finance
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TRUST FUND NO. 30

PENSION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES

OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS ' v
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2001

2001 2000

INCREASE IN ASSETS B
Investment income _

Interest : ‘ $ 420,412 - $ 477779

Dividends ‘ 322,070 436,375
Pension contributions - employee 3,160 -
Total increase in assets 745,642 914,154
DECREASE IN ASSETS ,
Current period decrease in market value of investments 1,092,719 ' 71,501
Pensions 703,067 . 640,627
Refunds 5340 8,190
Investment management fees ' ' 40,271 23,522
Custodial fees 12,460 10,574
Administrative expenses 6,725 381
Total decrease in assets 1,860,582 o 754,795
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS (1,114,940) © 159,359
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS AT

BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,478,190 14,318,831
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS AT

END OF YEAR $ 13,363,250 $ 14,478,190

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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‘TRUST FUND NO. 30

PENSION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

1. Description of Plan

The following description of the Pension Plan for Management Employees of New Brunswick School
Districts is a summary only. For more information, reference should be made to the Plan Document.

(a) General

The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan which provides retirement benefits for Management
Employees of New Brunswick School Districts and their dependents. The Plan is administered by the Office
of Human Resources, with investment matters being advised on by the Department of Finance.

(b) Funding Policy

Prior to 1 September 1996, plan members contributed a percentage of their salaries and the employer was
required to contribute the balance of the cost of providing accrued benefits under the Plan. The
determination of the value of benefits is made on the basis of an actuarial valuation (see note 3).

Effective 1 September 1996, all active contributors to the plan ceased and those individuals still employed
commenced membership in the Public Service Superannuation Plan.

{c) Service Pensions

Effective January 1996, normal retirement pension equals 2.0% (for service before 1990) and 1.5% (for
service after 1989) of average annual salary during the highest paid continuous 5 years up to.the year's
maximum pensionable earnings (YMPE) and 2% of the average salary above the YMPE muiltiplied by the
number of years of pensionable service. The pension continues for the lifetime of the pensioner. Pension
benefits are indexed annually according to the consumer price index increase to a maximum of 3%.

Normal retirement age is 65. Unreduced pension is available at age 60 with 5 years of pensionable service.
Reduced benefits are available at age 55 with 5 years pensionable service.

A past service grant was provided for services rendered between 1 January 1967 and 1 March 1974 for
individuals hired as management employees of NB School Boards prior to 1 March 1974 who have been

* continuously employed by a School Board and who were active contributors to the plan at 1 January 1996.

individuals had until 31 December 1996 to decide on the following opuons with respect to accrued beneﬂts
under the said plan:

a) take advantage of the intra-provincial reciprocal pension transfer agreement

b) transfer the value of their pension to the Public Service plan, or

c) obtain a refund of contributions with interest, which was only permitted if the individual was not
successful in obtaining employment covered by the Public Service Superannuation Act.
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TRUST FUND NO. 30

PENSION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

1. Description of Plan (Continued)

{d) Death Benefits

It a vested member dies after retirement and has a spouse or dependent children then an immediate 50%
spouse’s or dependent’s pension is payable. If a member dies prior to retirement a refund of the member’s
required contributions with interest is payable to the deceased member’s beneficiary.

(e) Benefits on Termination

Upon termination of employment, a member who has less than 5 years of pensionable service is entitled to
a refund of contributions made to the Plan with accumulated interest. A member with more than 5 years
pensionable service may elect to receive an annual pension payable commencing on his normal retirement
date or a refund of contributions made to the Plan with accumulated interest.

{ Income Taxes

The Plan is a Registered Pension Plan as defined in the Income Tax Act and is not subject to taxes on
income.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and present the aggregate financial
position of the Plan as a financial reporting entity independent of the plan sponsors and pian members.
These statements are prepared to assist plan members and others in reviewing the activities of the Pla}n tor
the fiscal period but they do not portray the funding requirements of the Plan or the benefit security of
individual plan members.

(b) Investments

All investments are recorded as of settlement date. Investments are carried at market value except for
money market instruments, which are carried at cost.

(c) Foreign Currency Translation
Investments in equities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the rate of

exchange in effect at the date of the statement of net assets available for benefits.

3. Funding Policy

This Plan is being curtailed. All former members have been given the option to transfer their benefits to the
Public Service plan or to take a deferred pension from this Plan. There are no current contributors to the
Plan. '
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TRUST FUND NO. 30 :
PENSION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. 31 DECEMBER 2001 -

3. Funding Policy (Continued)
The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was prepared by Mormeau Sobeco as of 1

* September 1996. This valuation disclosed fully funded accrued benefits as at 1 September 1996. Currently,
a valuation is being prepared as at. December 31. : T

- 4, Obiigation for Pension Benefits

The present value of accrued pension benefits was detefmined using the projected unit credit method.pro-
rated on service and actuarial assumptions which reflect management's best estimate for the future. An
actuarial valuation was made as of 1 January 1993 by Momeau Sobeco, a firm of consulting actuaries, and
was then extrapolated to 31 December 2001. . . ' ‘ :

Significant long-term assumptions and the range of short-term assumptions used in the valuation are:

Long-term Assumptions - Short-term
: : Assumptions
Rate of return on assets _ : 8.16% ’ 6.08% to 7.64%
Annual wage and salary increase 4.75% 1.5% t0 4.0%
Inflation 4.00% : 2.0% t0 3.5%
Rate of pension escalation after retirement ’ 2.00% - 2.0%

The actuarial present value of benefits as at 31 December and the principal components of changes in.
actuarial present values during the year, were as follows: _

(in millions) _
-2001 2000
Actuarial present value of accruéd pension benefits ' : .
atbeginning of year $ 9.13 $ 9.24
Interest accrued on benefits 053 0.54
Benefits paid : (0.71) (0.65)
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits ‘ :
at end of year : - % 8.95 $ 9.13

Net assets available for benefits $ 1336 $ 1448
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TRUST FUND NO. 30 .

PENSION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

4. Obligation for Pension Benefits (Continued)

Members in the Plan as at 1 January 1996 had to elect by 31 March 1998 whether they wished to transfer
service from the Plan to the Public Service Superannuation Plan or elect a deferred pension. This information
was received during 1998 and the value of the transfer calculated by the actuary was $4.32 million as at 31
March 1998. This amount, accumulated with interest to the date of transfer, was transferred to the Public
Service Superannuation Plan on 30 September 1999.

5. Investments in Plan Sponsor

As at December 31, The Pension Plan for Management Employees of New Brunswick School Districts held no
Province of New Brunswick bonds.
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Office of the * Bureaudu
Auditor General vérificateur général

Notweo :-E-: Brunswick

AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Honourable Peter Mesheau
Minister of Finance
Province of New Brunswick

| have audited the statement of net assets available for benefits of the Pension Plan for General Labour,
Trades and Services Employees of New Brunswick School Districts as at 31 December 2001 and the
statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Plan's trustee. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on my audit. ' '

| conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that | plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Plan's trustee, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Plan as at 31 December 2001 and the results of its activities for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

L=
Daryl C. Wilson, FC
Auditor General

Fredericton, N. B.
3 May 2002
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TRUST FUND NO. 31

PENSION PLAN FOR GENERAL LABOUR, TRADES AND SERVICES EMPLOYEES

OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
31 DECEMBER 2001

2001 2000
ASSETS
Investments
Money market instruments $ 10,678,947 $ 12,353,203
Bonds and debentures 67,717,216 64,466,535
Canadian equities 64,447,239 60,704,033
Foreign equities_ 36,662,652 34,875,734
179,506,054 172,399,505
Receivables .
Employee contributions 151,871 120,775
Employer contributions 189,217 305,888
Accrued interest and dividends 659,425 853,373
Accounts receivable 390 390
1,000,903 1,280,426
Cash ' : 77,842 224 532
Total assets 180,584,799 173,904,463
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 300,547 856,760
Total liabilities 300,547 856,760

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS $ 180,284,252

$ 173,047,703

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

111

Joh MallV
Deplity Mi of Finance
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TRUST FUND NO. 31 . :

PENSION PLAN FOR GENERAL LABOUR, TRADES AND SERVICES EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2001

| 2001 2000

INCREASE IN ASSETS
investment income

Interest $ 4,488,545 ‘ $ 3,676,793

Dividends E 2,352,947 1,962,390
Current period increase in market value of investments 5,516,388 , 20,160,672
Pension contributions ' )

Employee 2,183,882 2,239,678

Employer 2,088,834 2,138,001
Total increase in assets 16,630,596 ‘ 30,177,534
DECREASE IN ASSETS
Pensions ' , 6,074,567 - 5,554,180
Refunds 2,508,456 2,239,828
Administrative expenses 340,079 311,596
Investment management fees 426,699 427,794
Custodial fees 23,666 22,024
Performance measurement fees 20,580 20,570
Total decrease in assets 9,394,047 8,675,992
INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 7,236,549 21,601,542
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS AT

BEGINNING OF YEAR 173,047,703 151,446,161
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS AT

END OF YEAR $ 180,284,252 $ 173,047,703

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 31

PENSION PLAN FOR GENERAL LABOUR, TRADES AND SERVICES EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

1. Description of Plan

The following description of the Pension Plan for General Labour, Trades and Services Employees of New
Brunswick School Districts is a summary only. For more information, reference should be made to the
Collective Agreement and Plan Document.

{(a) General

The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering General Labour, Trades and Services
Employees of New Brunswick School Districts. The Plan is administered by Morneau Sobepo, ungier the
direction and with the assistance of the Office of Human Resources, with investment matters being advised on
by the Department of Finance.

{b) Funding Policy

Contributions are made by the Plan members and the Plan sponsor to fund the benefits qetermined under the
Plan. The determination of the value of benefits is made on the basis of an actuarial valuation (see note 3).

(c) Service Pensions

Effective 1 January 2001, normal retirement pension equals 1.9% (for service before 2000) of average annual
salary during the highest paid consecutive 5 years up to the year's maximum pensionable earnings (YMPE)
and 2% (for service before 2000) of the average salary above the YMPE muttiplied by the number of years of
pensionable service plus 1.4% (for service after 2000) of average annual salary during the highest paid
consecutive 5 years multiplied by the number of years of pensionable service. Pension benefits are indexed
annually according to the consumer price index increase to a maximum of 2%.

A member may elect from one of three optional forms of pensions being: 1) life pen_sion with no guarantee
period; 2) life pension with guarantee period of 5 or 10 years or 3)-joint life and fast survivor pension. There are
also supplementary pension benefits available when the normal retirement pension is less than $1 .500} per
year.

Normal retirement age is 65. Unreduced pension benefits are available at age 60 with 5 years continuous
employment. Reduced benefits are available on retirement as early as age 55 with 5 years of continuous
employment. Bridging benefits are available for retirement commencing between the ages of 55 to 65 on an
unreduced basis.

(d) Death Benefits
if a member dies prior to ietirement and before éompleting 5 years continuous employment, the benefit

payable to his beneficiary or estate is a refund of all contributions made by the member with accumulated
interest.
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TRUST FUND NO. 31

PENSION PLAN FOR GENERAL LABOUR, TRADES AND SERVICES EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS ' ’ '
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS "

31 DECEMBER 2001

1. Description of Plan (Continued)

If a member dies after 31 December 1997 and prior to retirement and has completed 5 or more years of
continuous employment, the beneficiary or estate shall be paid the Commuted Value of the deferred pension
as at the date of the member's death. The Commuted Value is the deferred pension to which the member
would have been entitled had the member's continuous employment terminated just prior to their death. In
addition, excess contributions (if applicable) to which the member would have been entitied would be refunded
to the designated beneficiary or estate. ‘

if the member dies after 31 December 1997 and after retirement and was in receipt of a Qension benefit, the
death benefit payable is determined in accordance with the provisions of the form of pension selected by the
member. :

(e) Benefits on Termination

A member who has less than 5 years of continuous employment and is terminated is entitled to a refund of
contributions made to the Plan with accumulated interest.

A member with more than 5 years continuous employment who has terminated may elect to receive a deferred
pension commencing on his normal retirement date or an amount equal to the Commuted Value. The
Commuted Value is, as at the date of the member’s termination, the deferred pension o which the member
would have been entitied. The Commuted Value of the deferred pension is to be transferred on a locked-in
basis to any registered retirement savings arrangement where the transfer is allowed under the Pension
Benefits Act.

() Income Taxes

The Plan is a Registered Pension Plan as defined in the Income Tax Act and is not subject to taxes on income.

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements are prepared on the going concem basis and present the aggregate financial
position of the Plan as a financial reporting entity independent of the plan sponsors and plan members. These
statements are prepared to assist plan members and others in reviewing the activities of the Plan for the fiscal
period but they do not portray the funding requirements of the Plan or the benefit security of individual plan
members.

b) . Investments

All investments are recorded as of settlement date. Investments are carried at market value except for money
market instruments, which are carried at cost. .
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TRUST FUND NO. 31 : o
PENSION PLAN FOR GENERAL LABOUR, TRADES AND SERVICES EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS -

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) .

{c) Foreign Currency Translation

Investments in equities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the rate of
exchange in effect at the date of the statement of net assets available for benefits.

(d) Pension Contributions

Contributions are recorded in the period that the payroll deductions are made.

3. Funding Policy

In accordance with the Plan Agreement, employees are required to contribute 4.5% of their earnings up to the
year's maximum pensionable earnings (YMPE) plus 6% of earnings above the YMPE. The employer is
required to contribute an amount necessary in the opinion of an actuary based on an actuarial valuation, which
when combined with employee contributions will provide for the benefits stipulated under the Plan. In'no event
shall employer-required contributions be less than 95% of employee contributions.

The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was prepared by Morneau Sobeco as of 1 January
2000. This valuation disclosed that accrued benefits are fully funded.

4, Obligation for Pension Benefits

The present value of accrued benefits was determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on
service and ‘actuarial assumptions which reflect management's best estimate for the future. An actuarial
valuation was made as of 1 January 2000 by Morneau Sobeco, a firm of consulting actuaries, and was then
extrapolated to 31 December 2001.

Significant long-term assumptions and the range of short-term assumptions used in the valuation are:

Long-term Short-term
Assumptions Assumptions
Rate of return on assets 7.9% 7.9%
Annual wage and salary increase 4.0% 2.0% t0 4.0%
Inflation 2.0% 2.0%
Rate of pension escalation after retirement 2.0% 2.0%
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PENSION PLAN FOR GENERAL LABOUR, TRADES AND_SERVICES EMPLOYEES

OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2001

4, Obligation for Pension Benefits (Continued)

The actuarial present value of benefits as at 31 December and the principal components of changes in

actuarial present values during the year, were as follows:

(in-mitlions)
2001 2000

Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits - »

at beginning of year $ 140.75 $ 117.07
Effect of experience gains and losses and

change in assumptions - 6.22
Restated actuarial present value of accrued pension

benefits at beginning of year 140.75 12329
Interest accrued on benefits 10.98 9.63
Benefits accrued : 5.06 5.04
Benefits paid (8.58) (7.79)
Plan amendments - 10.58
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits

at end of year $ 148.21 $ 140.75
Net assets available for benefits $ 180.28 $ 173.05
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General vérificateur général

Notveay :.E.: Brunswick

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honourable Peter Mesheau
Minister of Finance
Province of New Brunswick

| have audited the statement of net assets available for benefits of the Pension Plan for Full-Time
CUPE 2745 Employees of New Brunswick School Districts as at 31 December 2001 and the statement of
changes in net assets available for benefits for the year then ended. These financial. statements are the
responsibility of the Plan's trustee. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that | plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Plan's trustee, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnanqial position of
the Plan as at 31 December 2001 and the results of its activities for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian geneyally accepted accounting principles.

H
e

Daryl C. Wilson, FCA
Auditor General

Fredericton, N. B.
3 May 2002
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TRUST FUND NO. 32

PENSION PLAN FOR FULL-TIME CUPE 2745 EMPLOYEES

OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

31 DECEMBER 2001

ASSETS
Investments
Money market instruments
-Bonds and debentures
Canadian equities
Foreign equities

Receivables
Employee contributions
‘Employer contributions
Accrued interest and dividends

Cash
Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

Total liabilities

-NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS

2001 2000
3,163,623 $ 3928411
12,262,105 12,288,714
12,850,225 10,292,160
6,689,825 7,244,835
34,965,778 33,754,120
43,636 16,036
69,886 50,438
132,681 196,146
246,203 262,620
5,302 23,134
35,217,283 34,039,874
22,163 66,341
22,163 66,341

$ 35,195,120 $ 33,973,533

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

LA

JohnMallory —
Dep Mmlster of Finance
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TRUST FUND NO. 32 |

PENSION PLAN FOR FULL-TIME CUPE 2745 EMPLOYEES

OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS | |
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2001 |

2001 2000,

INCREASE IN ASSETS :
Investment income

interest $ 886,026 $ 909,443

Dividends 312,523 364,175
Current period increase in market value of investments 157,442 3,489,560
Pension contributions

Employee 477,429 420,685

Employer 467,933 385,944
Total increase in assets _ 2,301,353 5,569,807
DECREASE IN ASSETS
Pensions , 447,036 383,596
Refunds ‘ 462,552 86,292
Administrative expenses 104,400 88,232
Investment management fees 56,031 54,350
Custodial fees ' 9,747 6,483
Total decrease in assets 1,079,766 . 618,953
INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 1,221,587 4,950,854
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS AT

BEGINNING OF YEAR 33,973,533 29,022,679
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS AT

END OF YEAR $ 35,195,120 $ 33,973,533

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TRUST FUND NO. 32

PENSION PLAN FOR FULL-TIME CUPE 2745 EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

1. Description of Plan

The following description of the Pension Plan for Full-Time CUPE 2745 Employees of New Brunsw?ck
School Districts is a summary only. For more information, reference should be made to the Collective .
Agreement and Plan Document.

(a) General

The Plan is a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering Full-Time CUPE 2745 Employees qf New
Brunswick School Districts. The Plan is administered by Morneau Sobeco, unde{ the direction and with the
assistance of the Office of Human Resources, with investment matters being advised on by the Department
of Finance. -

(b) Funding Policy

Contributions are made by the Plan members and the Plan sponsor to fund the benefits determined under
the Plan. The determination of the value of benefits is made on the basis of an actuarial valuation (see note
3). . '

(c) Service Pensions

Effective 8 October 1998, normal retirement pension equals 2% (for service before January 1997) of
average annual salary during the highest paid consecutive 5 years multiplied by the number of years of
pensionable service plus 1.45% (for service between 1 January 1997 and 1 September 1997) of average
annual salary during the highest paid consecutive 5 years muttiplied by the number of years of gensuonab!e
service plus 1.3% (for service after 31 August 1997) of average annual salary during thg hlghe_zst paid
consecutive 5 years multiplied by the number of years of pensionable service. Pension benefits are indexed
annually according to the consumer price index increase to a maximum of 2%. '

A member may elect from one of three optional forms of pensions being: 1) life pensioq with no guarantee
period; 2) life pension with guarantee period of 5 or 10 years or 3) joint life and last survivor pension. There
are also supplementary pension benefits available when the normal retirement pension is less than $1,500
per year.

Normal retirement age is 65. Unreduced pension benefits are available at age 60 with 5 years continuous
employment. Reduced benefits are available on retirement at age 55 with 5 years continuous employment.

(d) Death Benefits

If a member dies prior to retirement 'and} before completing 5 years continuous employfrn‘erit, the benefit
payable to his beneficiary or estate is a refund of all contributions made by the member with accumulated

interest. a
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TRUST FUND NO. 32

PENSION PLAN FOR FULL-TIME CUPE 2745 EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

1. Description of Plan (Continued)

If a member dies after 31 December 1997 and prior to retirement and has completed 5 or more years of
continuous employment, the beneficiary or estate shall be paid an amount equal to the Commuted Value.
The Commuted Value is, as at the date of the member’s death, the deferred pension to which the member
would have been entitied had the member’s continuous employment terminated just prior to their death. in
addition, excess contributions (if applicable) to which the member would have been entitled would be
refunded to the designated beneficiary or estate. '

If the member dies after 31 December 1997 and after retirement and was in receipt of a -pen:?ion benefit, the
death benefit payable is determined in accordance with the provisions of the form of pension selected by
the member.

(e) Benefits on Termination

A member who has less than 5 years of continuous employment and is terminated is entitled to a refund of
contributions made to the Plan with accumulated interest. :

A member with more than 5 years continuous employment who has terminated may elect to receive a
deferred pension commencing on his normal retirement date or an amount equal to the Commuted Value.
The Commuted Value is, as at the date of the member’s termination, the deferred pension to which the
member would have been entitled. The Commuted Value of the-deferred pension is to be transferred on a
locked-in basis to any registered retirement savings arrangement where the transfer is allowed under the
Pension Benefits Act. ;

i) income Taxes

The Plan is a Registered Pension Plan as defined in the Income Tax Act and is not subject to taxes on

income.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation

These financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and present the aggregate financial
position of the Plan as a financial reporting entity independent of the plan sponsor and plan members.
These statements are prepared to assist plan members and others in reviewing the activities of the Plgn for
the fiscal period but they do not portray the funding requirements of the Plan or the benefit security of
individual plan members. : ' ’ '

(b) investments

All investments are recorded as of settlement date. Investments are carried at market value except for
money market instruments which are carried at cost. :
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TRUST FUND NO. 32

PENSION PLAN FOR FULL-TIME CUPE 2745 EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(©) Foreign Currency Translation

Investments in equities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the rate of
exchange in effect at the date of the statement of net assets available for benefits.

(d) Pension Contributions

Contributions are recorded in the period that the payroll deductions are made.

3. Funding Policy

In accordance with the Plan Agreement, employees-are required to contribute 4.5% of their earnings up to
the year's maximum pensionable earnings/()(ﬁP/eEi plus 6% of earings above YMPE. The employgr is
required to contribute an amount necessary, in the opinion of an actuary based on an actuarial valuation,
which when combined with employee contributions will provide for the benefits stipulated under the Plan.
The employer contributions shall not exceed 95% of the employee contributions.

The most recent actuarial valuation for fdnding purposes was prepared by Morneau Sobeco as of 1 January
2000. This valuation disclosed that accrued benefits are fully funded. : : :

4. Obligation for Pension Benefits

The present value of accrued benefits was determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on
service and actuarial assumptions which reflect management's best estimate for the future. An actuarial
valuation was made as of 1 January 2000 by Morneau Sobeco, a firm of consulting actuaries, and was then
extrapolated to 31 December 2001.

Significant long-term assumptions and the range of short-term assumptions used in the valuation are:

Long-term Short-term
Assumptions Assumptions
Rate of return on assets | 7.9% o7-9% N
Annual wage and salary increase 4.0% 2.0% to°4.0 Yo
Infiation 2.0% 2.0%

Rate of pension escalation after retirement 2.0% 2.0%
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TRUST FUND NO. 32 :

PENSION PLAN FOR FULL-TIME CUPE 2745 EMPLOYEES
OF NEW BRUNSWICK SCHOOL DISTRICTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2001

4. - Obligation for Pension Benefits (Continued)

The actuarial present value of benefits as at 31 December and the principal components of changes in
actuarial present values during the year, were as follows: :

(in millions)

2001 2000

Actuarial present value of accrued penision benefits

at beginning of year $ 2447 $ 2126
Effect of experience gains and losses and change '

in assumptions - _ 1.12
Restated actuarial present value of accrued pension '

benefits at beginning of year ' 24.47 - 2238
Interest accrued on benefits 1.93 1.78
Benefits accrued 0.90 0.78
Benefits paid : (0.91) (0.47)
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits

at end of year $ 26.39 $ 2447

Net assets available for benefits $ 35.20 $ 3397




